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Witanwisdom

“Worldly wisdom
teaches us that it is
better for reputation to
fail conventionally than
to succeed
unconventionally.”
John Maynard Keynes

Investment trusts are public limited companies, quoted on the London Stock Exchange, which provide shareholders with a professionally managed
portfolio of investments. Investment trusts are exempt from tax on the capital gains arising on their investments. Income, net of expenses and tax,
is distributed substantially to shareholders. Shareholders elect the directors.

Witan renewed its sponsorship of Chemmy Alcott at 31 December 2006. The arrangement names Witan as principal sponsor of

Britain’s number one female skier until 2010 and the Olympics in Canada. This season Miss Alcott has competed successfully at the

highest level with top ten performances in World Cup races through the winter.
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Objective

To be the first choice for wealth creation through equity investment.

Philosophy

◆ Seek returns for our investors across global stockmarkets.

◆ Embrace new investment techniques when appropriate.

◆ Present ourselves to investors in a clear, no-nonsense way.

Method 

◆ To maintain at least 80% exposure to equity markets.

◆ To offer an independent multi-manager approach, accessing the best available talent within the global

marketplace.

◆ To use alternative asset classes and investment techniques to improve performance.

◆ To grow the dividend at least in line with inflation.

◆ To buy back shares to improve net asset value and reduce the discount.

◆ To be ready to use borrowing in attractive markets while retaining the ability to convert to cash when

prospects are poor. 

◆ To promote and seek demand for Witan shares.

◆ To exercise strict controls on costs and keep expenses competitive.
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Directors

H M Henderson*◆

(Age 54) Appointed
a director in 1988,
Harry Henderson became
Chairman in March 2003.
He was formerly a partner
of Cazenove & Co. and
subsequently a senior
executive at Cazenove
Group plc, retiring in 2002.
Mr Henderson is Chairman
of Witan Investment
Services Limited. He is also
a director of Cadogan
Settled Estates Limited.

R W C Colvill*● 

(Age 66) Robert Colvill was
appointed a director in
1994 and became
Chairman of the Audit
Committee in 2002. He is
also Treasurer of the RNLI.
After 25 years’ fund
management experience in
the City, he joined Marks
and Spencer to set up their
Financial Services division,
later becoming finance
director of Marks and
Spencer plc and Chairman
of Marks & Spencer
Financial Services. He was
also Chairman for 9 years
of the Money Advice Trust,
a charitable company.
Mr Colvill will retire from
the Board at the conclusion
of the Annual General
Meeting on 30 April 2007.

A W Jones*◆ MA, FREng,
FRAeS, FIEE, CIM
(Age 67) Alan Jones was
appointed a director in
1996 and became
Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
on its formation in
December 2003. He was
formerly Chief Executive of
BICC plc. He is Chairman
of Alert Communications
Limited and The
Manchester Airport Group
plc and is a director of
Agustawestland NV. He is a
former member of The
Financial Reporting
Council. 

R A Bruce*● MA, MBA
(Age 57) Andrew Bruce
was appointed a director
in 2002. He is Group
Credit Risk Director at
Barclays PLC where he has
responsibility for asset
quality and credit risk
across the Barclays Group. 
He is also a non-executive
director of Clearstream
International.

A Watson*● BSc (Econ),
ASIP, Barrister-at-Law, 
FSI (Hon)
(Age 61) Tony Watson was
appointed a director on
1 February 2006. He
retired in January 2006
after an executive career of
38 years in the investment
management industry.
Most recently he was Chief
Executive of Hermes
Pensions Management
Limited. Mr Watson was
formerly Managing
Director of AMP Asset
Management plc. He is a
non-executive director of
Hammerson plc and of
Vodafone Group Plc and
Chairman of the Trustees of
the Marks & Spencer
Pension Scheme and of
Strategic Investment Board
Limited (Northern Ireland).
He is a member of the
Financial Reporting Council.

J Bevan* MA
(Age 46) James Bevan was
appointed a director on
1 February 2007. He is
CIO, CCLA Investment
Management. Before
joining CCLA in November
2006, he was the Chief
Investment Officer at
Abbey. Prior to Abbey, he
was Chief Investment
Officer for Barclays
Stockbrokers and Barclays
Personal Investment
Management, having
joined BZW in 1988,
following post graduate
research in applied
economics and asset
allocation at Cambridge
University.

R W Boyle*● MA, FCA 
(Age 59) Robert Boyle 
was appointed a director 
on 1 February 2007. He 
qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with 
Coopers & Lybrand and 
retired in 2006 from 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP. He was Chairman of the
PwC European
Entertainment & Media
Industry practice for
12 years. He is a non-
executive director and
chairman of the audit
committee of Maxis
Communications Berhad
and the independent
member of the audit
committee of the National
Trust.

J Horsburgh
(Age 51) Jim Horsburgh
was appointed a director
and Chief Executive Officer
with effect in February
2004. He is responsible for
the overall management of
Witan. He has over 25
years’ experience of
investment management.
He was formerly with
Schroder Investment
Management Limited
where he was UK
Managing Director.
Mr Horsburgh is a director
of Witan Investment
Services Limited.

*Independent non-executive directors.
●Members of the Audit Committee which is chaired by Mr Colvill (from 30 April 2007: Mr Boyle). 
◆Members of the Remuneration Committee which is chaired by Mr Jones.

R H McGrath*◆

(Age 60) Rory McGrath
was appointed a director in
1996. He was formerly
Chief Executive of
H. Young Holdings plc, 
a marketing company.
Mr McGrath is a director
of Witan Investment
Services Limited.
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Key Performance Indicators

Corporate Key Performance Indicators
31 December 31 December %
2006 2005 change

Net asset value per ordinary share 517.1p 469.5p +10.1

Net asset value per ordinary share (valuing the prior charges at market value)(A) 508.4p 458.9p +10.8

Share price 454.5p 414.0p +9.8

Performance against the overall benchmark:

Net asset value per ordinary share, capital return (see Performance below) +10.1% +20.3%

Benchmark (see Performance below) +8.4% +20.2%

Dividends per ordinary share 9.20p 8.80p +4.5

Discount 12.1% 11.8%

Discount (valuing the prior charges at market value) 10.6% 9.8%

Share buy-backs(B) 11.6% 13.0%

Total expense ratio(C) 0.47% 0.45%

Number of private investors(D) 42,376 44,846 -5.5

(A) See note 18 on page 49.
(B) The percentage of the ordinary share capital in issue at the previous year end that was bought back during the year.
(C) The total of the management fees and other administrative expenses (excluding the expenses of the subsidiary company) as a percentage of the average of

shareholders’ funds at the beginning and end of the year (see note 5 on page 40).
(D) The sum of the number of accounts on the Company’s register of members and the number of accounts in Witan Wealthbuilder and Jump.

Performance
1 year 3 years 5 years

Total returns to 31 December 2006 % return % return % return

Share price(1) 12.1 61.6 33.0

Net asset value per ordinary share(1) 10.7 51.8 33.5

FTSE All-Share Index(1) 16.8 60.8 50.2

FTSE World (ex UK) Index(1) 5.6 42.2 24.7

Capital returns to 31 December 2006

Net asset value per ordinary share 10.1 42.4(1) 18.8(1)

FTSE All-Share Index(1) 13.2 45.9 27.6

FTSE World (ex UK) Index(1) 3.5 33.8 12.9

Benchmark(2) 8.4 see note 2 below see note 2 below

(1)Source: Datastream
(2)The benchmark comprises the FTSE All-Share Index and the FTSE World (ex UK) Index in the proportion 50:50 (capital change only). The benchmark in this

proportion has applied only since 1 September 2004.

31 December 31 December %
2006 2005 change

Net assets £1,349,000,000 £1,385,000,000 –2.6

Number of ordinary shares in issue 260,772,887 294,988,151 –11.6

Earnings per ordinary share 10.24p 8.96p +14.3

Gearing* 2.5% 4.4%

*The total market value of the investments less shareholders’ funds as a percentage of shareholders’ funds.

The Company’s ten year historical record is shown on page 51.

Other Financial Highlights
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Chairman’s Statement

Harry Henderson

“The strongest principle of growth
lies in human choice.” George Eliot

Introduction

For the second year running there are major changes

to the presentation of the Annual Report. Last year

we introduced the International Financial Reporting

Standards and this year we have incorporated a

Business Review for the first time. 

I would particularly like to draw your attention to

the section in the Business Review which sets out

the Key Performance Indicators for the business. On

page 3 of these accounts we set out the 2006

numbers for these indicators. I shall now comment

on these.

Shareholder Returns

The share price rose by 9.8% over the year, giving a

total return to shareholders including dividends of

12.1%. This is now the fourth year of double digit

returns for shareholders with a total return to

Witan shareholders of 106.9% since the low in

March 2003. 

It is also important to look at the returns over the

longer term and it is interesting to note that over

any twenty year period the total return to

shareholders has been consistently in advance of

that available from deposit accounts. 

Performance

With any exam interested parties are eager to know

first was the pass mark achieved and secondly

where in the class did we come. Once satisfied on

these headlines a more detailed analysis is given in

the end of term report. 

Yes, Witan did pass the exam in 2006. The NAV

rose by 10.1% against our benchmark of + 8.4%.

This is now the second full year since the

reorganisation in September 2004 and since then

the Witan net asset value has risen by 42% and the

share price by 48% whilst our benchmark has risen

by 38%. 

Where did we come in the class? Witan came just

under half way up the Global Growth Investment

Trust sector. If one extends the comparisons against

unit trusts and other open-ended investment

companies then Witan would have been in the top

quartile. The Business Review on pages 7 to 17

analyses the performance in much greater detail.

Currency Management

Your Board for some time has been persuaded by the

arguments for active management. It is an arena in

which active managers have been constantly able to

achieve positive returns partly because much of the

world’s currency is traded in a manner that is “not for

profit”. For example, it is bought and sold by

tourists, corporations and central banks whose

prime aim is not to make money out of currencies.

This provides opportunities for active managers.

Before proceeding, it was important for us not only to

identify the correct manager but also to create a

structure that would not jeopardise the existing

accounting treatment of currency profits and losses.

This work was completed in the latter half of last

year and in January 2007 we announced the

appointment of Mellon Capital Management

Corporation to manage pro-actively a portfolio of

£350 million, equivalent in size to half of your

Trust’s foreign currency exposure. To achieve 
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this, we invested £36.5 million in a UBS loan note

which will mirror the returns of the Mellon fund

managed on our behalf.

Total Expense Ratio

You will see from the key performance indicators

that the total expense ratio for Witan is 0.47%. It

continues to make Witan one of the best value

investments around. Although some of the

administrative expenses rose in 2006, much of this

was associated with the setting up of the

Wealthbuilder savings platform. 

Dividends

Your Board has declared a second interim dividend

of 5.3 pence per ordinary share to make a total

distribution for the year of 9.2 pence (2005: 8.8

pence). This represents an increase of 4.5%, which

is in line with the RPI and in accordance with our

stated dividend policy. 

Manager Review

It is now over two years since we moved to a multi-

manager structure. We apply rules which can

automatically trigger a reappraisal of any one of our

managers, but as we approach the third anniversary

it is right to start a more formal programme to

review all of our managers. This review will look

first at the overall structure of the portfolio and the

mandates we have awarded, and will then move on

to re-assess the individual managers. Your Board

will obviously make the appropriate

announcements if we decide to make any changes

to the way your portfolio is being managed. 

It is of course easy to ascertain whether an index-

aware portfolio has achieved its targets but for

those mandates which are unconstrained we must

be more circumspect.

It is evident that unconstrained investing requires

the investment manager to adopt different

techniques. We the investors must understand the

implications and change our expectations

accordingly. Because an unconstrained portfolio by

definition will be very different to any

representative index, a greater tolerance of short

term relative volatility is necessary. We must take

the same investment time horizon as the manager,

therefore allowing a skilled management team

sufficient opportunity to deliver the additional

returns. 

Witan Investment Services

Over the last twelve months Witan Investment

Services (WIS) matured into a full operating

subsidiary, being authorised by the FSA in April and

taking full responsibility for the marketing of the

Witan brand, the executive management of Witan

Pacific Investment Trust plc and the marketing of

the Tribune UK Tracker plc, the latter becoming our

second investment trust client.

During the autumn, WIS launched Witan

Wealthbuilder, an internet based savings platform.

Witan Wealthbuilder replaces the Henderson Share

Plan and other products provided by our previous

manager. The new platform offers the same range

of products on the same terms, but Witan

Wealthbuilder also gives the investor the facility to

purchase the shares of Witan, Witan Pacific and

Tribune UK Tracker online for £15 per transaction.

Investors may also view their account on-line for

valuation purposes. Your Board sees this

development as an important means of

encouraging further grass roots investment into

your Company and its clients and that is why the

number of private investors is a key performance

indicator for Witan.
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Board Changes

During the year it became necessary for Jane Platt

to resign as a director due to a perceived conflict of

interest by her new employers, National Savings &

Investments. This was a great sadness as her

contribution was very real from the outset. 

At the AGM in April Robert Colvill retires after

thirteen years as a director of Witan, for the last five

of which he has performed the valuable role of

Chairman of the Audit Committee. His experience

gained across the financial services industry, and as

the finance director of Marks and Spencer, has been

of enormous value to this Company and he will be

much missed.

We welcome James Bevan and Robert Boyle to the

Board. They bring the respective investment and

accounting skills that we were seeking to engage

through the recruitment process. I am confident

that they have a valuable contribution to make to

your Company. 

Outlook

Equity markets have completed their fourth year of

double digit returns and their fourth year of

outperformance versus bonds. The debates do not

seem to have changed very much over the last

twelve months. They are around the outlook for

growth and inflation across the world. They ponder

the correct level for the US dollar and the impact of

its continued weakness. There are concerns over

credit spreads and how far they can deteriorate and

the reasons why. 

There are always things to worry about but, while

bond markets remain calm, corporate activity will

continue, along with the resulting return of cash to

investors. Further good increases in dividends are

expected from a corporate sector operating with

historically low pay-out ratios. 

Your Board is confident that Witan is well placed to

take full advantage of these conditions.

Annual General Meeting

Our AGM will be held this year at Merchant

Taylors’ Hall, on Monday 30 April 2007 at 2.30pm.

Formal notice of the meeting is set out on pages 54

and 55 and further details are given on the

enclosed invitation card. With my fellow directors,

I look forward to the opportunity to meet you then.

Harry Henderson 

7 March 2007

Chairman’s Statement
continued
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The review which follows is designed to provide

shareholders with information about your

Company’s business and results in 2006. All of the

matters previously dealt with in the Chief Executive’s

Report are now included in this review which covers

the following:

– Objectives and strategy

– Management arrangements

– Portfolio review

– Manager review process

– Buy-back policy

– Witan Investment Services

– Principal risks

– Key performance indicators

– Your Board’s priorities for 2007

– Outlook

Witan’s Objectives and Strategy

Witan’s objective is to be the first choice for wealth

creation through equity investment. From an

investment perspective this means that Witan will

seek to outperform global stockmarkets consistently,

adding value in the long term for its investors. In

addition Witan must encourage new investors to buy

the Trust’s shares in order to provide ongoing

liquidity for shareholders. These are two clear and

simple strategic aims and the Witan approach to

each is described below.

Witan aims to outperform by using a multi-manager

best of breed investment structure. Your Board aims

to control risk in line with investor expectation, but

will be prepared to enhance performance by

employing innovative investment techniques and

diverse asset classes if and when these are

appropriate. As an investment trust, Witan can

borrow in order to improve performance in rising

markets. Furthermore Witan is committed to growing

its dividend at least in line with the rate of inflation.

Your Board places great importance on the need to

provide constant liquidity in Witan’s shares to the

market place. Shareholders must be allowed to sell at

a price that reflects prevailing market value while

potential investors must have easy access to the

Company’s

equity. Central 

to the provision

of liquidity is 

the proactive

management of

Witan’s discount

in terms of level

and volatility.

Your Company buys back its own shares when they

stand at a substantial discount. This both provides

liquidity and enhances the net asset value of the

Company. In addition, Witan implements an

ongoing marketing programme designed to stimulate

demand for and encourage new investment into the

Company’s shares. This programme reaches out to

both the private and professional investor using a

blend of targeted marketing disciplines.

In everything Witan does, the aim is to provide the

best possible return to shareholders. With this in

mind, your Board applies strict controls to cost.

Management Arrangements

The management of Witan’s assets is almost entirely

outsourced to third parties. The Company maintains

a small executive team, comprising four full-time

employees including the Chief Executive (plus a

part-time assistant), to manage and control these

outsourced relationships, to run Witan Investment

Services and to advise the Board on investment and

business strategy.

In addition, in December 2006, the Board chose

Mellon Capital Management Corporation, one of the

world’s leading currency managers, to manage

actively approximately half of its overseas currency

exposures. This has been achieved by investing in a

UBS loan note, the returns from which will mirror

Mellon’s currency performance after fees. Currency

risk is inherent in your Company’s portfolio as a

result of its international investments. However, by

teaming up with Mellon, Witan is looking to exploit

this risk to enhance returns.

Business Review

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of your shares and the income from it can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by
Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may
record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. 14398

Witan...

wisdom

Proven, experienced teams, and world-class managers that get results.
Sounds too good to be true, doesn’t it?

“Not another programme about English sportsmen.”“Not another programme about English sportsmen.”
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Business Review
continued

Your Company has also appointed third parties for

the various supporting services it requires. The most

important of these are BNP Paribas Securities Services

SA for global custody, BNP Paribas Fund Services UK

Limited for investment accounting and

administration, Henderson Global Investors for

company secretarial services and Lloyds TSB

Registrars as Witan Wealthbuilder plan

administrators. From time to time, and as required,

Witan also buys in services for legal, compliance,

investment consulting, financial and tax advice.

Although multi-manager arrangements can prove

expensive, Witan’s careful cost control has resulted in

a total expense ratio of 0.47%, one of the lowest in

the investment trust industry and much lower than

any multi-manager unit trust. This, in turn, has

allowed Witan to continue paying rising dividends. 

Portfolio Review

2006 was another good year for equity investment.

Most markets in local currency terms managed to

achieve decent positive returns, with only four

(Thailand, Japan, Pakistan and South Korea) of the 34

major country stock indices failing to rise by at least

10%. The best returns were achieved in Asia (outside

Japan) and in the emerging markets where returns in

excess of 30% were not uncommon. The worst

performance from the world’s major equity markets

was in Japan which managed a return of only 6.6%. 

That, however, was not the experience of UK based

investors like Witan as currency movements had a

major impact on returns in 2006 – relative to sterling

the US dollar fell by 14% and the Japanese yen by over

15% thereby reducing substantially returns from these

regions (and from many Asian and emerging markets

whose currencies are linked to the US dollar). For a UK

investor, the region with, on average, the greatest total

return was Europe (+20.3%), primarily because the

euro was almost as strong as sterling. The UK equity

market, as measured by the FTSE All-Share Index,

returned 16.8%. The return on world equities as a

whole in sterling terms compared favourably to the

returns on other investments such as conventional and

indexed-linked bonds and cash, so providing more

pain to those investors who cut their equity exposure

following the post dotcom boom crash.

The following table shows the current equity investment management arrangements:

INVESTMENT MANDATE BENCHMARK INVESTMENT 

GEOGRAPHY MANDATE MANAGER (TOTAL RETURN) STYLE

UK Mainstream Equities Henderson Global FTSE 350 (ex investment Enhanced 

Investors companies) Index

UK Smaller Companies Henderson Global Hoare Govett Smaller Growth at  

Investors Companies (ex investment an Attractive 

companies) Price

Global Equities Southeastern Asset FTSE All-World Quality at a 

Management Discounted 

Valuation

Global Equities MFS International FTSE All-World Growth at an 

Attractive Price

Continental Equities Wellington Management FTSE World Europe (ex UK) Fundamental 

Europe Company Research 

USA Equities Henderson Global Investors FTSE World North America Enhanced Index

Japan Equities Brandes Investment Partners FTSE Japan Value

Far East Equities APS Asset Management FTSE All-World Asia Pacific Fundamental 

(ex Japan) Research
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Over the last four years equity markets have

performed spectacularly with the UK returning

18.1% per annum and the world 15.1% per annum.

Whilst to a certain extent this represents a recovery

from the aforementioned lows, it is a rate of progress

that cannot continue in perpetuity.

Witan’s shareholders also saw good returns with a

total return from holding the shares during the year

of 12.1%. Witan’s net asset value per ordinary share

rose by 10.1% over the year, 1.7% ahead of the

overall benchmark as laid out in the key

performance indicators on page 3. Positive

contributions to this came from buying back shares

at a discount to net asset value, the Board’s gearing

policy, the overweight allocation to Europe and Asia,

the underweight allocation to the US, and the

outperformance of MFS and Henderson’s UK smaller

companies team. The underweight allocation to the

UK, the overweight position in Japan and the under-

performance, in particular, of APS, Brandes and

Wellington detracted from the relative return.

The geographical breakdown of the portfolio is laid

out on page 18. This reflects the strategic asset

allocation of the Board and also the stock selection of

our two global managers who seek to find the most

attractive stocks they can irrespective of geography.

Page 18 also shows the breakdown of the portfolio by

industrial sector and page 19 lists the fifty largest

holdings in the portfolio. These holdings represent

almost half the portfolio by value and will be the

main drivers of Witan’s performance going forward.

Whilst, as a result of the Company’s chosen

management structure, this list inevitably includes

many of the UK’s largest companies, holdings such as

DirecTV, the US cable television company, Dell, the

computer company, Walt Disney, Fairfax Financial, a

Canadian insurance company, and Olympus, the

Japanese optical company, underline the global and

stock specific nature of Witan’s portfolio. 

The Board was successful during the year in selling its

holdings in two unquoted companies, Esprit Capital I

Fund and

Wadworth,

neither of which

had a strategic

role in the

portfolio since the

implementation

of the new

management

structure. 

Below is a more detailed review of the portfolio by

strategic segment.

UK

The UK portfolio is managed in two parts: the UK

mainstream portfolio is managed by the Henderson

Global Investors UK Enhanced Index team and

provides Witan with a relatively low risk exposure to

the UK’s largest companies; the UK smaller

companies portfolio is actively managed by the

Henderson Global Investors Smaller Companies

team. This combination gives Witan a strategically

overweight position in smaller companies, an area

which tends to outperform in the long term.

The UK mainstream portfolio was marginally ahead

of its benchmark in 2006 (see table on page 14).

Over the course of the year investors moved away

from the economically sensitive cyclical stocks in

sectors such as energy and mining and towards

stocks undergoing an element of change such as

Sainsbury’s, Cable and Wireless and BT, and more

defensive consumer staples companies such as

Diageo (drinks), Reckitt Benckiser (household

products) and Alliance Boots (chemist). Additionally,

merger and acquisition activity continued to

influence both individual stock and also sector

returns during the year. In this environment, the

portfolio’s overweight positions in transport

companies such as Arriva, First Group and Go Ahead

performed well, particularly after Stagecoach’s sale of

its London Bus business to Macquarie Bank. The

portfolio also benefited from takeover activity (both

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of your shares and the income from it can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services
Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection
and to improve customer service.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. Nstatesman 17 11 06 C

Witan...

wisdom

How cool would it be if politicians were as good at their jobs,
as we are at looking after people’s investments?

THE HOT POTATO
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Business Review
continued

real and putative) in BAA, the London Stock

Exchange, Stanley Leisure, Legal & General and ITV.

On the other hand, the holding in Isoft and being

generally underweight in defensive companies held

back returns.

2006 was another very strong year for UK small

companies. The Henderson Global Investors portfolio

returned 31.7%, outperforming the Hoare Govett

Smaller Companies Index (ex investment companies)

which produced a return of 28.0%. The portfolio had

a number of strong winners including Carter & Carter,

a training and consulting business, Capital &

Regional, a retail property investor, Robert Walters, the

recruitment company, and WSP, the consulting

engineering group. The common feature of these

‘winners’ was their ability to exceed market earning

expectations over the year through strong business

momentum. The portfolio also benefited from a

number of take-overs including Systems Union, a

financial software company, Incisive Media, a business

publisher, SHL, a psychometric testing company, and

House of Fraser, the department store group.

The major transaction in the UK portfolio was the

sale of the holding in Henderson Strata Investments.

This investment trust no longer fitted comfortably in

the Witan investment structure when it amended its

mandate to include larger companies.

Overall, Henderson see 2007 as presenting similar

opportunities to 2006. “We believe that the UK

Equity market is reasonably valued, with companies

continuing to generate good cashflows. We continue

to see a range of interesting opportunities and this

leaves us confident for returns in 2007. Having said

that, we do believe that markets will continue to be

characterised by “risk aversion shocks” of the nature

of that seen in May-June 2006 and this underlines

the need to sustain a disciplined attitude towards

risk.” After four years of strong gains for UK smaller

companies, Henderson still believes that the outlook

for 2007 continues to look favourable. However they

expect returns to be less spectacular than in the

recent past. “Small and mid cap valuation levels

whilst reasonable no longer appear cheap and

earnings growth will be constrained by rising interest

rates, a weak US dollar and high commodity prices. A

major prop for small and mid-sized companies will

remain high levels of corporate activity. Additionally

there remains scope for bottom-up investors to add

value through focused stock selection.”

Global

We have two global managers, Southeastern who at

the end of 2006 managed £203.5 million for Witan

and MFS who managed £142.6 million. They have

very different approaches to managing these

portfolios as can be seen from the manager

descriptions on page 8. Southeastern might be loosely

described as a “value” manager, although they will

invest in growth companies provided they

understand the business dynamics and the price can

be justified by their exacting criteria. MFS is classified

as a “growth” manager but will only invest in growth

at the right price. There are, however, similarities.

Both are stockpickers, paying little, if any, attention

to index weightings, geography or currency and as a

result both will see their performance deviate from

indices for long periods of time. And, indeed, over

the short period of time that they have been

managers for Witan we have had that experience.

MFS were initially somewhat adrift of their

benchmark but a good 2006 performance when they

returned 10.6% versus a FTSE All-World return of

7.2% has meant that they are now outperforming

since inception. Southeastern have also had some

exceptionally good periods but in calendar 2006

returned only 6.0% and are still behind the

benchmark since inception. As stated earlier both of

these returns were substantially reduced by the

strength of sterling – Southeastern point out that the

return of their portfolio in local currencies was 20%. 

Interestingly, as noted last year, both managers

despite their different styles and relatively short stock

lists have holdings in Dell and Walt Disney. Dell

detracted from the managers’ relative performance.

Faced with increased competition, Dell missed

earnings forecasts for two consecutive quarters, which

17274_Text.qxd  9/3/07  11:01 pm  Page 10



11

the company attributed to aggressive pricing by

competitors. Dell announced a number of changes to

revive growth, including cutting prices, simplifying

pricing structure and improving customer service.

Both managers believe that Dell’s direct sale model

will be the most competitive over the long run and

that the operating problems related to consumer

support and gross margins are temporary. Shares of

Walt Disney, however, appreciated substantially

during the year as the media giant posted record

revenues, net profit and cash flow on strong

performances from its film business, media networks

(including ABC and ESPN), theme parks and licensed

merchandise.

Indeed for Southeastern three of their top four

outperforming stocks were media companies, an area

that had been disappointing in 2005, as DirecTV and

Comcast, like Walt Disney, increased their revenues

and cash flows above expectations. Their other

biggest contributor to performance was General

Motors which successfully sold 51% of its consumer

credit company GMAC and significantly reduced its

annual labour costs. Southeastern believe that the

two major drivers of value at General Motors –

GMAC and the overseas car business – are on stronger

footings today than a year ago. Although 2007 will

bring labour contract negotiations for the North

American car business, Southeastern expect that the

outcome will have little impact on their valuation of

the company, as they currently ascribe no value to

this division.

Over the last twelve months Southeastern sold two

businesses whose prices approached their valuations:

Hasbro, the toy manufacturer, and Saks, the retailer.

Cheung Kong, a Hong Kong holding company with

interests in property, ports and house building, was

the one new purchase in 2006. 

MFS’ out-performance in 2006 can be attributed to

quality but relatively defensive companies such as

Diageo, the producer of Guinness and many well-

known spirits, and Reckitt Benckiser, the leading

household cleaning company, coming back into

favour with

investors. Stock

selection in

financial services

(Julius Baer and

Goldman Sachs)

and in healthcare

(Schering, Fisher

Scientific and

Actelion, a biotechnology company) also added to

performance.

Whilst Southeastern never make a judgement on the

outlook for markets, merely noting that margin debt

is at its highest level for six years whilst at the same

time as market volatility is near record lows, they do

suggest “that the current environment presents a

challenge.” MFS, on the other hand, note that “equity

market valuation levels appear reasonable, but

investors' risk appetite is high. After strong relative

performance, many stocks with small capitalisations,

or those domiciled in emerging markets or that

operate in more cyclical areas of the economy, are

trading at high valuations versus their history.”

US

The North American portion of the portfolio was

marginally behind its benchmark in 2006, returning

1.6% versus 1.7% for the index.

Performance of the North American equity market,

and to a large extent the portfolio, was marked by

the sharp correction in May and June, when

investors reacted to the prospects of potentially

higher inflation, driven by rising oil prices, low

unemployment and high capacity utilisation rates,

along with a concern that global growth may be

slowing. After a period of digestion, the risk aversion

was replaced by confidence that the US economy

would engineer a soft landing and that falling oil

prices would cushion consumers’ concerns about

lower house prices. 

After a positive start, returns suffered from profit

taking in previously successful positions and a move

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of your shares and the income from it can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by
Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may
record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. Mweek 01 09 06 C

Witan...

wisdom

Our investment philosophy has been in vogue since 1909.

17274_Text.qxd  9/3/07  11:01 pm  Page 11



12

Business Review
continued

away from perceived risky investments. One of the

successes in the Henderson North America

investment process has been discovering undervalued

and under-researched companies. These stocks, such

as CB Richard Ellis, a commercial real estate company

and the longest active position in the fund, Freightcar

America, which makes railway carriages, and

Intercontinental Exchange, which trades oil futures,

were all marked down in the rotation away from

growth and cyclical names in May. These companies,

however, continued to meet expectations on

profitability and recovered somewhat during the

latter part of 2006. Additionally, positions in

convertibles also worked well for the portfolio in the

second half of the year. The final quarter also

witnessed a strong turnaround as positions in the

mining and media sectors delivered positively.

Henderson say “we were pleased to recover a lot of

performance following weakness in May, although it

was disappointing to finish the year marginally

behind the benchmark. Looking forward, we go into

2007 with strong momentum after four positive

months and we are encouraged by the opportunities

we see across all our strategies. Having said that, we do

believe that markets will continue to be characterised

by “risk aversion shocks” and this underlines the need

to sustain a disciplined attitude towards risk.”

Continental Europe

Continental European equities recovered during the

third and fourth quarters, following a dip in the

second quarter. For 2006 as a whole, Continental

European stocks returned over 22% in euro terms,

extending the equity rally to nearly four years. Strong

profits, moderate economic growth, and low long

term interest rates supported the advance. The

portfolio underperformed its benchmark in 2006

returning 16.4% against 20.3% for the index. Over the

past four years, European corporate profits have risen

dramatically, carrying along most stocks on a rising

tide. Going forward, Wellington expect to see more

variability in underlying corporate performance as

well as more volatility in stock price movements. This

should coincide with a return to more normal levels

of valuation dispersion, which they suggest should be

positive for their relative performance. 

Wellington had most success during the year within

the materials, industrials and consumer staples

sectors. Stocks in these sectors benefited from the

market’s appetite for increased global demand,

consolidation through mergers and acquisitions and

restructuring stories. In materials, Arcelor was

acquired by Mittal and Wellington continue to own

the combined entity as they believe it to be one of

the most undervalued steel makers in the world.

Lafarge also recovered in 2006 after lagging in 2005

as sales and earnings came in better than consensus

expectations and the stock was revalued. In

industrials, Alstom was a positive contributor as

strong orders and restructuring initiatives began to

feed through to margin improvement. In consumer

staples, Belgian food retailer Colruyt outperformed, as

continuing strong earnings growth helped the stock

begin to re-attain its historic valuation premium.

During the year, the portfolio also benefited from

being underweight in energy stocks. 

Underperformance during the year came primarily

from stock selection within the consumer

discretionary, telecom and financials sectors, and

from the overweight allocation to technology. The

consumer discretionary stocks continued to lag

generally. In Wellington’s view this area remains one

of the more fertile grounds for finding unexploited

stocks that still have both margin and valuation

upside, and they have added to positions here. In

telecoms, Deutsche Telekom and France Telecom

began to bounce back in the fourth quarter, but were

disappointing in the first part of the year. In

financials, the Italian banks did well but the other

holdings lagged following a strong end to 2005. 

Looking forward, Wellington say “nearly four years

into a market advance it is less easy to discover

unexploited investment opportunities. Nevertheless,

there are a number of stocks and areas where we
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believe investors are too cautious on fundamentals,

at least on a relative basis. From a sector perspective,

health care and telecoms are the areas where the

market has been quite negative and where we are

beginning to see some positive fundamental

momentum. Within cyclical companies, technology

stocks have generally been ignored. We have added

to these three areas recently. On the flip side we are

underweight in areas where profitability has

achieved new peaks and expectations are high –

areas like basic materials and industrials.” 

Japan

The Japanese equity portfolio gave a negative return

of -11.8% in 2006 versus -7.4% for the benchmark.

The portfolio benefited most from its exposure to the

pharmaceuticals industry. Holdings such as Daiichi

Sankyo, Tanabe Seiyaku and Ono Pharmaceutical

were among the best performers. On the other hand

positions in the consumer finance industry and in

commercial banks detracted from performance with

companies such as Promise, ACOM (both consumer

finance), Yamaguchi Financial and Bank of Iwate

(both commercial banks) generating the biggest falls

in the portfolio.

Brandes style is bottom-up and value orientated and

this can be seen in their attitude to consumer finance

companies. The consumer finance industry in Japan

is being threatened with legislation which is likely to

lower the maximum lending rate and limit consumer

debt levels. Japanese investors have shunned these

companies, frightened by the short to medium term

uncertainty. Brandes believe, however, that in the

long term these companies can grow at 15% to 18%

per annum and that in the meantime they are

conservatively financed. Brandes is very comfortable

buying out of favour companies and holding on to

them patiently until others see them as attractive.

As far as the outlook for Japanese equities is

concerned, Brandes have no view. They say “While

we monitor short term developments in markets, our

investment philosophy focuses on company by

company

analysis. We take

a long term

perspective and

believe that none

or very little of

the short term

market news

provides much

useful information to patient investors. In all market

environments, we search for and hold what we

believe to be fundamentally sound companies

trading at discounts to our estimates of their fair

values. We believe this strategy will provide patient

investors with favourable results.”

Asia Pacific (excluding Japan)

For 2006, the Asia Pacific (ex Japan) portfolio

returned -0.9% against an index return of 17.1% in

sterling terms. Both figures, as indicated above, were

substantially higher in local currency terms. The

main driving force for this rise in the market was not

profits growth which, on average, was moderate, but

the surge of liquidity into Asia which resulted in an

increase in valuation multiples, particularly for large

liquid investments. Another dominant factor during

the year was strong commodity prices. These two

factors impacted significantly on APS’s portfolio

which in the main is invested in small to medium

manufacturing companies that suffered from rising

raw material costs. Although APS do not make

macro-economic forecasts they do believe that

commodity price rises will not last forever.

The top performing stocks in their portfolio were

Minara Resources (an Australian nickel producer),

Catcher Technology (a Taiwanese manufacturer of

magnesium casings for laptop PCs, mobile phones,

MP3 players, etc which are very much in demand for

their looks and lightness), Foxconn Technology (a

Taiwanese manufacturer of magnesium components,

again benefiting from the trend towards lighter

products) and Hon Hai Precision Industries (another

Taiwanese electronic components manufacturer).

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of your shares and the income from it can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by
Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may
record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. 14391

Witan...

wisdom

Come rain, come shine, we help people all over the country make the most 
of their savings – from landed gentry to the great unwashed.

“...and the drought in the South looks set to continue…”“...and the drought in the South looks set to continue...”

17274_Text.qxd  9/3/07  11:01 pm  Page 13



14

Business Review
continued

Among the poor performers were Kia Motors (which

suffered from the relative strength of the Korean

Won), Hi-P International (a Singaporean contract

manufacturer with facilities in China) and Basso

Industries (manufacturer of one of the world’s largest

pneumatic fastening tools – nail guns – based in

Taiwan).

Looking to the future APS say “We will not buy the

winners of the past. As we are entering the late stages

of a bull market, the fifth year, to be precise, we

think the laggards have a better chance of success

than the current stars. At APS, we will favour stocks

whose valuations are attractive and whose earnings

are resilient or recovering.”

Manager Review Process

During 2006, as in previous years, the Board

reviewed both Witan’s benchmark and the

investment management structure to ensure that

they were still appropriate for your Company’s

objectives. This was not just a geographic review, but

also considered other asset types as well as the

proportion of return expected to be generated by

markets (beta) and manager skill (alpha). This review

led to the appointment of a currency manager in

December, as noted above.

In addition, the Board held thirteen review meetings

with the investment managers. At these meetings the

managers were asked, among other things, to:

– explain their choice of investments, which enabled

the Board to check that these were within Witan

guidelines and in accordance with the manager’s

own investment philosophies; 

– provide a detailed analysis of their performance to

date and the reasons behind it; 

– report on any significant changes to the

organisation; 

Performance

for the year ended 31 December 2006 and from inception to 31 December 2006

Investment Manager Value of % of Witan’s Performance Benchmark Performance Benchmark
Funds under Assets under in the period Performance in the period Performance
Management Management 31.12.05 to 31.12.05 to 30.09.04 to 30.09.04 to
£m at 31.12.06 at 31.12.06* 31.12.06 31.12.06 31.12.06 31.12.06

(annualised) (annualised)

Henderson Global Investors (UK mainstream) 546.5 40.1 +16.7 +16.7 +20.6 +20.3

Henderson Global Investors (UK smaller) 75.7 5.6 +31.7 +28.0 +29.5 +29.6

Southeastern Asset Management (Global) 203.5 14.9 +6.0 +7.2 +13.0 +16.8

MFS International (Global) 142.6 10.5 +10.6 +7.2 +17.5 +16.8

Wellington Management Company (Europe) 141.5 10.3 +16.4 +20.3 +20.6 +25.8

Henderson Global Investors (USA) 123.8 9.1 +1.6 +1.7 +11.2 +10.8

Brandes Investment Partners (Japan) 61.3 4.5 -11.8 -7.4 +10.7 +15.4

APS Asset Management (Far East) 68.8 5.0 -0.9 +17.1 +16.9 +27.6

*excluding cash balances held centrally by Witan and the unquoted investments.
Source: The WM Company

“In recruiting these managers we were looking for firms that had a strong

investment philosophy..., that had a clear, rigorous and disciplined investment

process... and for firms that had a long-term record of outperformance.”
extract from the CEO’s Review 2004
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– re-affirm their investment strategy and philosophy.

If the Board had felt any dissatisfaction on any of

these points then this would have led to the formal

review described below.

Now that we are into the third year of the current

management arrangements, the Board judges that it

is now appropriate to make this formal review

process applicable to all the managers, even if there

is no dissatisfaction with the manager. This will

involve an assessment of what each of the

investment managers has achieved for Witan since

their appointment and what the alternatives might

be. Only a foolish fund manager would believe that

he/she owns all of the most attractive shares – he/she

should always be searching for something better

whilst recognising that ultimately this may prove to

be a fruitless task. Similarly, Witan is always on the

look-out for the best fund managers, irrespective of

speciality, as this may give a guide to a better way of

structuring the entire portfolio. Within each

speciality your Company is also trying to recruit the

best fund managers available. However, we also need

to accept the role that luck (both good and bad)

plays in fund management, so should try to avoid

appointing fund managers who have just had a

lucky run or sacking those who have been unlucky.

Furthermore, the Board must remain cognisant of

the not inconsiderable costs of changing investment

managers. The Board intends to subject all of the

existing managers to a peer group review over the

coming months and years, starting with those about

whom it has some concern. Thereafter, it intends

that each manager, irrespective of its performance,

will be subjected to such an assessment review on at

least a rolling three year basis.

Among many matters these reviews will address the

following questions:

– Why did we appoint the manager?

– Excluding performance, have they done what we

expected?

– Is performance

out of line with

the manager’s

own historical

experience?

– If so, is there a

good reason for

this?

– Do we still

believe in them?

– Are there attractive alternative managers available?

– Do we want to arrange a beauty parade?

– Do we want to include the incumbent?

There will, however, be no presumption on what the

outcome of these reviews might be.

Buy-back Policy

Your Board believes that it is in shareholders’

interests to buy back the Company’s shares when

they are standing at a substantial discount to net

asset value. Any purchase of shares at a discount to

their net asset value will lead to an increase in that

net asset value and will support an increase in the

Company’s share price, all other things being equal.

In 2006 the Company bought back and cancelled a

total of 34,215,264 of its ordinary shares at a cost of

£145.0 million, including stamp duty. The result of

this in terms of performance enhancement was to

add just under 1.2% to the net asset value per share

at 31 December 2006. 

Witan Investment Services (WIS)

Witan Investment Services Limited (“WIS”) is a wholly

owned subsidiary of Witan Investment Trust plc. It

was established in March 2005 and became regulated

by the Financial Services Authority in April 2006. 

WIS has two discernable channels of income by

which its performance and profitability may be

judged. These are, firstly, revenues from transaction

fees and annual management charges relating to its

savings plan business and, secondly, executive

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of an investment and the income from it can fall as well as rise as a result of currency and market fluctuations and you may not get back
the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services. Witan Investment Services (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide
investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. 14392

wisdom

At Witan, we pack a punch when it comes to investment expertise.
Our £1.5bn multi-manager fund aims to consistently produce steady

returns from the stock market. That’s the way to do it. 

Witan...

“THEY’RE NOT BEHIND YOU!”
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management and marketing fees paid by its corporate

clients, Witan Investment Trust plc, Witan Pacific

Investment Trust plc, and Tribune UK Tracker plc.

The platform which provides savings plans to WIS

clients is called Witan Wealthbuilder. It currently has

over 30,000 customers with assets of some £220

million invested. Ongoing success will be indicated

by growth in these figures. The major cost incurred

by WIS is its fee to Lloyds TSB Registrars, the

administrators of the Witan Wealthbuilder platform.

WIS is intended to be a profit centre in its own right

and now that the migration of the savings business

from Henderson Global Investors is complete, it is

expected to contribute positively to Witan

Investment Trust during 2007.

Principal Risks

Because Witan is essentially a vehicle for UK and

overseas equity investment, your Board is unlikely, in

normal conditions, to allow the invested level to drop

below 80%. The prime risk, therefore, of investing in

Witan, remains a fall in equity prices. The other generic

risks associated with any international equity portfolio

are those of strategy and of country, currency,

industrial sector and stock selection. There are also risks

associated with the choice of investment managers.

Your Board seeks to manage these risks through the

appropriate application of gearing, liquidity and asset

allocation policies and by monitoring the stock

selection activities of your managers. Moreover, the

adverse effects of a failure, however defined, by an

individual investment manager are reduced

significantly by the multi-manager structure, and the

application of nine different investment management

mandates (including the currency manager). Further

your Board regularly reviews the competency of the

investment managers.

In addition, your Company also faces the risk that its

objective and strategy become inappropriate in a

rapidly changing financial services and savings

market. This is a matter which is reviewed regularly

by the Witan and the Witan Investment Services

Boards. These reviews focus on investment policies,

the role of marketing and the Witan Wealthbuilder

savings schemes and discount control policies, as

well as wider industry trends.

Finally, there are operational and regulatory risks, and

the unavoidable risks of errors and omissions. These

are regularly and extensively reviewed by Witan’s audit

committee. Witan Investment Services and its

marketing activities are also regulated by the Financial

Services Authority and the subsidiary is subject to its

own operating rules and regulations. Your Board

takes its regulatory responsibilities very seriously and

reviews the main points of compliance against

requirements on a quarterly basis. Your Board also

takes professional legal, accounting and tax advice in

advance if there is the slightest doubt concerning

any proposed activity of your Company.

Operationally, the multi-manager structure is a fairly

robust one as each of the investment managers, the

custodian and the fund accountants keep their own

records which are reconciled on a monthly basis. In

addition, the Witan executive monitors the activities of

all third parties and escalates any issues to the Board.

Comprehensive contractual obligations and

indemnification provisions have been put in place

with each of the third party service providers.

Key Performance Indicators

Your Board assesses its performance in meeting the

Company’s objective against the following key

performance indicators:

– net asset value return

– share price return

– performance against the overall benchmark

– annual dividend growth

– discount to net asset value

– the level of buy-back activity

– total expense ratio

– growth in the number of private investors

The board also reviews both absolute and relative

volatility and risk statistics for the portfolio and

evaluates employee performance.
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Witan’s performance in 2006 against these indicators

is shown on page 3 and is discussed in the

Chairman’s Statement. 

Your Board’s Priorities for 2007

Every year in the early summer your Board sets aside

time to decide its priorities for the next twelve

months. In June 2006 the Board agreed to appoint a

currency manager, subject to its treatment under

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),

and to put in place a formal and far reaching review

of each of the investment managers. A currency

manager has been appointed and the procedure for

reviewing the managers’ longer term role has been

established, as described elsewhere in this document.

During 2007 the Board will undertake this wide-

ranging review of some of the investment managers

while continuing with its ongoing monitoring of the

others. It will continue to seek out any opportunities

to improve the performance of your Company and

will also be looking to develop Witan Investment

Services both through adding new investment trusts

to the Wealthbuilder platform and through

increasing the number of savers that invest in Witan,

Witan Pacific and Tribune.

Outlook

Since the management arrangements were put in

place in 2004 equity markets have performed far

better than most expectations. During this period

your Board has maintained a modestly geared

position in equities and this has been to your

Company’s benefit. At the time of writing,

corporate balance sheets of quoted companies

remain strong and the prospects for dividend

growth remain rosy. 

Nevertheless, there are clouds on the horizon. UK

interest rates were increased in January 2007, much

to the surprise of most commentators. The US

economy which was expected to execute a ‘soft

landing’ in the first part of this year appears to be

‘taking off’ again

and, if continued,

this may lead to a

further rise in

interest rates and

a ‘hard landing’

further out. What

one can say is

that, despite

central bankers’ best efforts, the amount of credit in

the world economy has probably never been greater

(even Continental Europe may be acquiring the

habit). So while quoted equities in general look

soundly financed, investors should reflect on the fact

that consumers, private equity fund investments,

hedge funds and even governments may not be.

Whilst equity markets tend to climb a wall of worry,

i.e. the time to sell is when there is nothing to worry

about, it is not clear at the moment that markets are

factoring in these risks. The premium for risk is

currently very low as can be evidenced from the low

interest rate differentials between corporate debt and

government debt and between emerging market debt

and developed market government debt and the

historically high valuations for small companies and

emerging market equities. Most commentators

expect equities to rise by around 5% to 10% in 2007.

That appears to be a sensible forecast but, given the

current appetite for risk, we can expect some

turbulence during the year.

Given the environment described above, the Board

believes that the current investment portfolio is well

positioned. 

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

7 March 2007

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of an investment and the income from it can fall as well as rise as a result of currency and market fluctuations and you may not get back
the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services. Witan Investment Services (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide
investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.
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Witan...

wisdom

We’ve been helping people make the most of their savings for ages. So, before the pensions crisis
really starts to bite, why not ask us how we can help you invest for the future? Food for thought…  
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United North Continental South Total
Kingdom America Europe Japan Far East America 2006

% % % % % % %

Basic Materials Chemicals 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.1
Forestry & Paper 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Industrial Metals 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.6
Mining 2.8 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 3.2

3.4 0.4 0.6 0.0 0.5 0.0 4.9

Consumer Goods Automobiles & Parts 0.0 1.0 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.0 2.2
Beverages 1.1 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7
Food Producers 0.9 0.2 0.8 0.0 0.3 0.0 2.2
Household Goods 1.5 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.2
Leisure Goods 0.1 0.0 0.9 1.2 0.1 0.0 2.3
Personal Goods 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.0 1.2
Tobacco 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.3

4.8 2.3 3.0 1.9 1.1 0.0 13.1

Consumer Services Food & Drug Retailers 1.1 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4
General Retailers 1.2 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.0
Media 2.0 4.7 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.0 7.5
Travel & Leisure 2.1 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.7

6.4 5.7 0.8 0.4 0.3 0.0 13.6

Financials Banks 7.2 1.2 2.8 0.9 0.4 0.0 12.5
General Financial 1.3 1.0 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.0 3.0
Life Assurance 1.5 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3
Nonlife Insurance 0.6 2.7 1.2 1.8 0.1 0.0 6.4
Real Estate 1.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 2.7

12.3 5.5 4.5 3.2 1.4 0.0 26.9

Health Care Health Care Equipment & Services 0.2 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.2
Pharmaceuticals & Biotechnology 3.0 1.1 1.3 0.7 0.1 0.0 6.2

3.2 1.9 1.3 0.7 0.3 0.0 7.4

Industrials Aerospace & Defence 0.9 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2
Construction & Materials 0.6 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.9 2.1
Electronic & Electrical Equipment 0.7 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.0 1.6
General Industrials 0.1 0.6 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.8
Industrial Engineering 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.0 1.3
Industrial Transportation 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.8
Support Services 2.6 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8

5.4 1.5 1.0 0.7 1.1 0.9 10.6

Oil & Gas Oil & Gas Producers 4.5 1.0 2.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 8.3
Oil Equipment Services & Distribution 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4

4.7 1.2 2.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 8.7

Technology Software & Computer Services 0.5 0.7 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7
Technology Hardware & Equipment 0.1 2.0 0.5 0.5 1.6 0.0 4.7

0.6 2.7 1.0 0.5 1.6 0.0 6.4

Telecommunications Fixed Line Telecommunications 0.5 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.1 0.0 1.7
Mobile Telecommunications 1.7 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.1 0.0 3.4

2.2 1.0 0.7 1.0 0.2 0.0 5.1

Utilities Electricity 0.8 0.2 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4
Gas Water & Multiutilities 1.0 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 1.9

1.8 0.3 1.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 3.3

Totals 2006 44.8 22.5 16.7 8.5 6.6 0.9 100.0

Totals 2005 43.7 22.7 16.2 9.9 6.0 1.5 100.0

Classification of Investments
at 31 December 2006

Notes:

1. Unquoted investments, options and futures are not included in this classification.

2. There were no fixed interest holdings or convertible holdings (2005: none).
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Market value
of holding
£ million Country Description

1 UBS Loan Note 36.4 UK Managed currency fund (see pages 4 and 44)

2 Royal Dutch Shell 36.0 UK Oil and gas producer

3 BP 34.0 UK Oil and gas producer

4 HSBC 31.8 UK Bank

5 GlaxoSmithKline 26.3 UK Pharmaceuticals

6 Vodafone 21.9 UK Telecommunications

7 Royal Bank of Scotland 19.1 UK Bank

8 Liberty Media 17.6 USA Media

9 Dell 17.3 USA Technology

10 DirecTV 16.6 USA Media

11 Walt Disney 16.0 USA Leisure and media

12 Barclays 13.8 UK Bank

13 AstraZeneca 12.9 UK Pharmaceuticals

14 Fairfax Financial 12.4 Canada Insurance

15 Olympus Optical 12.4 Japan Optical instruments

16 Nipponkoa Insurance 12.2 Japan Insurance

17 Total 12.0 France Oil and gas producer

18 Cemex 11.9 Mexico Cement and concrete producer

19 Anglo American 11.9 UK Resources

20 HBOS 11.8 UK Bank

21 Philips Electronics 11.7 Netherlands Technology

22 Tesco 11.4 UK Food retailer

23 Willis 10.8 USA Insurance

24 Cheung Kong 10.7 Hong Kong Construction, property and ports

25 Sprint Nextel 10.6 USA Telecommunications

26 Nestlé 10.5 Switzerland Food and other consumer products

27 General Motors 10.3 USA Automotive

28 UBS 10.0 Switzerland Bank

29 KDDI 9.6 Japan Communications

30 Lloyds TSB 9.4 UK Bank

31 BHP Billiton 9.2 Australia Resources

32 Axa 8.9 France Insurance

33 Sompo Japan Insurance 8.8 Japan Insurance

34 Diageo 8.7 UK Beverages

35 Sanofi-Aventis 8.6 France Chemicals

36 British American Tobacco 8.5 UK/Malaysia Tobacco products

37 Rio Tinto 8.4 UK Mining

38 BG 8.3 UK Gas producer

39 Reckitt Benckiser 7.7 UK Personal care and household products 

40 Everest Re 7.3 USA Insurance

41 Standard Chartered 7.0 UK Bank

42 BT 6.6 UK Telecommunications

43 Xstrata 6.5 UK Resources

44 Aviva 6.2 UK Insurance 

45 Prudential 6.1 UK Insurance 

46 National Grid 5.9 UK Utility

47 Unicredito Italiano 5.8 Italy Bank

48 BBVA 5.7 Spain Bank

49 Johnson & Johnson 5.6 USA Healthcare

50 Foxconn 5.5 Hong Kong Technology

These investments total £634.6 million and represent 45.9% of the total investment portfolio at 31 December 2006. The
descriptions shown do not necessarily correspond with the categories shown in the Classification of Investments on page 18. 
The full portfolio is not listed because it contains over 1,000 companies as a result of the investment management arrangements.  

Fifty Largest Investments
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the audited accounts of the Group and

their report for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Activities and Business Review

A review of the business is given in the Chairman’s Statement on

pages 4 to 6 and in the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.

Status

Witan Investment Trust plc (“the Company”) is incorporated in

England and Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom. It is

an investment company as defined in section 266 of the

Companies Act 1985 and operates as an investment trust in

accordance with section 842 of the Income and Corporation

Taxes Act 1988. HM Revenue & Customs approval of the

Company’s status as an investment trust has been received in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2005, although approval

for that year may be subject to review should there be any

subsequent enquiry under Corporation Tax Self Assessment. The

Company will continue each year to seek approval as an

investment trust under section 842 of the Taxes Act.

Subsidiary Company

The Company has one subsidiary company, Witan Investment

Services Limited, which provides marketing services to the

Company and executive management and marketing services to

third party investment trust clients. Witan Investment Services

Limited is authorised by the Financial Services Authority to

manage savings schemes for investors.

Investment in Investment Companies

It is the stated investment policy of the Company to invest no

more than 15% of its gross assets in other UK listed investment

companies. At 31 December 2006 the Company had no direct

investments in UK listed investment companies.

PEPs and ISAs

The Company intends to continue as a fully qualifying

investment trust company under the regulations governing

Personal Equity Plans and Individual Savings Accounts.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at 7 March 2007, the following had notified the Company of

interests in the Company’s ordinary share capital:

%

AXA Investment Managers UK Limited 13.43

Barclays PLC 4.29

Legal & General Investment Management Limited 3.51

The above percentages are calculated by applying the shareholdings 

as notified to the Company to the issued ordinary share capital as at 

7 March 2007.

Business Review

The Company is required by the Companies Act to set out in this

report a fair review of the business of the Group during the

financial year ended 31 December 2006 and of the position of the

Group at the end of the year and a description of the principal

risks and uncertainties facing the Group (“business review”). The

information that fulfils the requirements of the business review

can be found within the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.

Assets

At 31 December 2006 the total net assets of the Group were

£1,348.5 million (2005: £1,384.9 million). At this date the net

asset value per ordinary share was 517.1p (2005: 469.5p).

Revenue and Dividend

The profit for the year was £132.8 million, of which £27.6 million

is attributable to revenue (2005: £250.3 million, of which £28.0

million was attributable to revenue). The profit for the year

attributable to revenue has been applied as follows:

Distributed as dividends:
£’000

First interim of 3.90p per ordinary share

(paid on 8 September 2006) 10,189

Second interim of 5.30p per ordinary share

(payable on 3 April 2007) 13,677

Retained earnings 3,699

27,565

The directors have declared a second interim dividend instead of

a final dividend in order to ensure that, as in previous years, the

distribution is made to the shareholders before 5 April. The

Company announced in October 2004 its continued intention to

grow the dividend in line with inflation year on year.

Directors

The current directors of the Company are shown on page 2.

All the directors held office throughout the year under review,

with the exception of Mr Watson, who was appointed a director
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on 1 February 2006, and Messrs Bevan and Boyle, who were

appointed directors, after the year end, on 1 February 2007.

Mr C G Clarke and Mr C S McVeigh III retired from the Board at

the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2006.

Ms J C Platt resigned from the Board with effect from 31 August

2006.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Mr Colvill,

Mr Henderson and Mr Jones will retire by rotation in accordance

with the Company’s Articles of Association. Mr Henderson and

Mr Jones offer themselves for re-election. Mr McGrath will also

stand for re-election, having served as a director for more than

nine years. Mr Bevan and Mr Boyle will both stand for election

in accordance with the Articles of Association. Mr Colvill has

decided to stand down from the Board at the conclusion of the

Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2007.

The directors have reviewed their independence in the context

of the Combined Code, as revised in July 2003, and by reference

to the AIC’s Code of Corporate Governance. All the directors are

wholly independent of all the investment managers and are of

the opinion that each of them is independent in character and

judgement and that there are no relationships or circumstances

that are likely to affect their judgement.

Mr Henderson was formerly a partner of Cazenove & Co., the

firm which for many years acted as the Company’s stockbroker.

However, he did not have responsibility for or involvement with

Cazenove’s role with the Company, being for many years

responsible for aspects of Cazenove’s fund management division.

Mr Henderson, Mr Jones and Mr McGrath have served on the

Board for more than nine years. Accordingly, they will stand for

election by the shareholders each year for as long as they

continue to serve on the Board. The Board is firmly of the view,

however, that length of service does not of itself impair a

director’s ability to act independently; rather, their longer

perspective adds value to the deliberations of a well-balanced

investment trust company board. The Board considers Mr

Henderson, Mr Jones and Mr McGrath to be independent. Their

roles and contributions will, however, be reviewed rigorously

each year.

Throughout the year the membership of the Audit Committee

included Mr Colvill (Chairman) and Mr Bruce. Mr Clarke served

until his retirement from the Board, after which Mr Watson was

appointed a member. Throughout the year the membership of

the Remuneration Committee included Mr Jones (Chairman)

and Mr Henderson. Mr McVeigh served until his retirement from

the Board. Since the year end Mr Boyle has been appointed to

the Audit Committee and Mr McGrath to the Remuneration

Committee. Mr McGrath is the non-executive director who leads

on marketing matters but the Board has decided not to establish

a permanent committee to cover this area of the business.

Mr Henderson was formerly a senior executive at Cazenove and

a partner in its predecessor firm. As one of a number of

institutional investors, the Company purchased in 2001 a

holding of shares in Cazenove Group plc (“Cazenove”) (see note

10 (vii) on page 44). Subject to this exception, no director was a

party to, or had an interest in, any contract or arrangement with

the Company at any time during the year or to the date of this

report. With the exception of Mr Horsburgh, no director has a

service contract with the Company.

The number of formal meetings during the year of the Board

and its Committees, and the attendance of the individual

directors at those meetings, is shown in the table that follows.

Audit Remuneration

Number of meetings Board Committee Committee

12 4 2

H M Henderson 12 *2 2

J Horsburgh 12 *4 *1

C G Clarke 4 of 4 1 of 1 –

R W C Colvill 11 4 –

A W Jones 11 – 2

R H McGrath 11 – –

C S McVeigh III 4 of 4 – 1 of 1

R A Bruce 11 4 –

J C Platt 8 of 8 – –

A Watson 11 3 of 3 –

*Not a member of the committee but in attendance by invitation for all or part of

the meeting(s).

All the then directors attended the Annual General Meeting.
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Directors’ Report
continued

Directors’ Interests

The interests of the directors in the share capital of the

Company were as follows:

31 December 2006

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

H M Henderson 722,732 455,000

J Horsburgh 80,000 –

R W C Colvill 22,035 36,082

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 754

R A Bruce 3,100 215

A Watson 25,000 –

978,091 492,051

1 January 2006

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

H M Henderson 722,732 586,532

J Horsburgh 80,000 –

R W C Colvill 21,595 35,364

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 476

R A Bruce 3,037 145

A Watson* – –

952,588 622,517

*on appointment on 1 February 2006.

Mr McGrath’s non-beneficial interests increased to 795 shares as a result of

regular investment through the Jump share plan and Mr Bruce’s non-

beneficial interests increased similarly to 225 shares. No other changes in

the interests of the directors have been notified since the year end. No

director had an interest in the secured bonds, debenture stock or

preference shares of the Company. 

Directors’ Indemnity

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is in place in

respect of the directors. The Company’s Articles of Association

provide, subject to the provisions of UK legislation, an

indemnity for directors and officers of the Company in respect

of costs, losses or liabilities which they may incur in the

discharge of their duties or the exercise of their powers,

including any liabilities relating to the defence of any

proceedings brought against them which relate to anything done

or omitted, or alleged to have been done or omitted, by them as

officers or employees of the Company.

Directors’ Fees

A report on the directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 25 to 26.

Corporate Governance

A corporate governance statement is set out on pages 27 to 30.

Financial Instruments and the Management of Risk

By its nature as an investment trust, the Company is exposed to

market price risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,

liquidity risk and credit risk. The Company’s policies for

managing these risks are outlined in note 14 to the accounts on

pages 46 and 47.

Investment Managers

Until 31 August 2004, investment management, UK custodial,

accounting, administrative and company secretarial services were

provided to the Company by Henderson Global Investors

(Holdings) plc and its subsidiaries (“Henderson Global

Investors”) and by BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited.

In 2004 the Board reviewed the Company’s asset allocation

policy and agreed to appoint investment managers for eight

different investment mandates. Henderson Global Investors was

appointed to three of the investment mandates and five new

investment managers were appointed in respect of the other five

investment mandates. Investment management agreements were

negotiated and signed in respect of each of the eight investment

mandates and the revised arrangements came into effect on 1

September 2004. Each of the investment managers is entitled to

a base management fee, calculated according to the value of the

assets under management, and/or a performance fee, calculated

according to investment performance, over a rolling three year

period, relative to the benchmark applicable to the relevant

investment mandate. Each of the performance fees is subject to a

cap and each management agreement can be terminated on one

month’s notice. The base management fee rates range from nil

to 0.87 per cent per annum and the performance fees range from

nil to 30 per cent per annum of the relevant outperformance. All

the fees are payable quarterly in arrears. The performance fees

are payable on a pro rata basis, after a minimum initial period of

one year, and after three years are calculated on a rolling three

year basis. Fees are subject to VAT as applicable. The average

aggregate base management fee, calculated on a size-weighted

basis according to the value of the funds under management,

was 0.16 per cent as at 31 December 2006 (and 0.16 per cent as

at 31 December 2005). The maximum performance fees payable,

if each of the eight investment mandates performs to at least the

extent that the relevant cap applies, would result in total fees of
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1.04 per cent being paid (based on the value of the funds under

management at 31 December 2006). In 2006 the Company

established a ninth investment mandate in respect of currency

management. This mandate is structured differently to the

others in that it is invested, via a loan note, in a managed fund.

The Company has contracted separately with other parties for

the various supporting services that it requires. The main

contracts are with BNP Paribas Securities Services SA for global

custody, with BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited for

investment administration and accounting, and with

Henderson Global Investors for company secretarial services.

Since November 2005 the Company has had a lease on office

premises at 14 Queen Anne’s Gate, London SW1A 9AA. The

Company’s registered office remains as 4 Broadgate, London

EC2M 2DA.

It is the opinion of the directors that the continuing

appointment of the various investment managers is in the

interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole and that

the terms of engagement negotiated with them are competitive

and appropriate to the investment mandates. The Board,

assisted by its advisers, carried out a rigorous and extensive

selection process in 2004 (as a result of which the directors

consider the investment managers appointed to each mandate

to be among the best available in the world). The Board

reviews the appointments of the investment managers on a

regular basis.

The investment managers may use certain services which are paid

for, or provided by, various brokers. In return they may place

business, including transactions relating to the Company, with

these brokers.

Share Buy-Backs

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Company to

purchase its own shares and to fund such purchases from its

accumulated realised capital profits. 

At the Annual General Meeting in April 2006 a special resolution

was passed giving the Company authority, until the conclusion

of the Annual General Meeting in 2007, to make market

purchases for cancellation of the Company’s ordinary shares up

to a maximum of 40,837,539 shares (being 14.99% of the issued

ordinary share capital as at 24 April 2006). As at 31 December

2006 the Company had valid authority, outstanding until the

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2007, to make

market purchases for cancellation of 29,178,539 shares. During

the year ended 31 December 2006 the Company purchased for

cancellation a total of 34,215,264 of its own ordinary shares,

representing 11.6% of the ordinary shares in issue at

31 December 2005. These purchases, which cost £144,258,000

excluding stamp duty, were funded from the realised capital

reserves. A further 3,106,473 shares have been bought back

between the year end and the date of this report.

The Board considers that the Company should continue to have

authority to make market purchases of its own ordinary shares for

cancellation. Accordingly, a special resolution will be proposed at

the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to authorise the

Company to make market purchases for cancellation of up to

14.99% of the ordinary shares in issue at the date of the Annual

General Meeting (equivalent to 38,624,195 ordinary shares if there

is no change in the issued ordinary share capital between the date

of this report and the Annual General Meeting). Under the Listing

Rules of the UK Listing Authority this is the maximum percentage

of its equity share capital that a company may purchase through

the market pursuant to such authority. 

The directors believe that buying back the Company’s own shares

in the market, at appropriate times and prices, is in the best

interests of shareholders generally. The Company will make

purchases, within guidelines set from time to time by the Board

and if or when market conditions are suitable, with the aim of

maximising the benefit to the remaining shareholders. The

Company announced in December 2004 its intention to buy back

shares proactively in order to maintain an appropriate level of

discount, with the aim, over three years, of moving the level of

the discount to below 10% (as calculated by valuing the

Company’s debt on a fair value basis). The directors will not use

this authority unless to do so would result in an increase in the

net asset value per ordinary share. Shares will not be bought at a
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Directors’ Report
continued

price that is less than 25p (the nominal value) or more than 5%

above the average middle market price of the shares over the

preceding five business days. The directors intend to seek a fresh

authority at the Annual General Meeting in 2008.

New Zealand Listing

On 8 March 2006 the Company’s shares were listed on the

New Zealand Stock Exchange, in the category of Overseas 

Listed Issuer.

Payment of Suppliers

It is the Company’s payment policy for the financial year to

31 December 2007 to obtain the best terms for all business. In

general, the Company agrees with its suppliers the terms on

which business will take place and it is the Company’s policy to

abide by such terms. At 31 December 2006 the Company had no

trade creditors (2005: none).

Independent Auditors

Resolutions to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the

Company’s auditors, and to authorise the directors to determine

their remuneration, will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting.

Directors’ statement as to the disclosure of information to

the auditors

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report

confirms that:

(1) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit

information of which the Company's auditors are unaware;

and

(2) the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have

taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant

audit information and to establish that the Company's

auditors are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in

accordance with the provisions of section 234ZA of the

Companies Act 1985.

Donations

No donations were made to political parties during the year.

Donations to charities totalling £15,000 were made during the

year from the Company’s marketing budget.

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

7 March 2007
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Introduction

The Directors’ Remuneration Report (“the Report”) is prepared in

accordance with Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985 (“the

Act”) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006. An

ordinary resolution to approve the Report will be put to the

Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2007. The Act requires the

auditors to report to the Company’s members on certain parts of

the Report and to state whether in their opinion those parts of

the Report have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Act. Therefore the Report has been divided into separate sections

for audited and unaudited information.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Consideration by the Directors of Matters relating to

Directors’ Remuneration

The Board as a whole sets the directors’ remuneration but it has

appointed its Remuneration Committee to consider matters

relating thereto. During the year the members of the

Remuneration Committee were Mr A W Jones (Chairman), 

Mr H M Henderson and, until 24 April 2006, Mr C S McVeigh.

Mr R H McGrath was appointed a member with effect from

6 February 2007. The Remuneration Committee has not been

provided with advice or services by any person in respect of its

consideration of the non-executive directors’ remuneration

(although the directors expect from time to time to review the

fees paid to the boards of directors of other investment trust

companies). 

Statement of the Company’s Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

Non-executive directors

All the directors are non-executive, with the exception of the

Chief Executive Officer. New directors are appointed for an initial

term ending three years from the date of their first annual

general meeting after appointment and with the expectation that

they will serve two three-year terms. The continuation of

directors’ appointments is contingent on satisfactory performance

evaluation and re-election at annual general meetings. Directors’

appointments are reviewed formally every three years by the

Board as a whole. None of the directors has a contract of service

and a director may resign by notice in writing to the Board at any

time; there are no set notice periods. The Company’s policy is for

the directors to be remunerated in the form of fees, payable

quarterly in arrears, to the director personally or to a third party

specified by him. There are no long term incentive schemes or

pension arrangements and the fees are not specifically related to

the directors’ performance, either individually or collectively.

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable to the directors

should reflect the time committed by the directors to the

Company’s affairs and the responsibilities borne by them and

should be sufficient to enable candidates of high calibre to be

recruited. The policy is for the Chairman of the Board and the

Chairman of the Audit Committee to be paid higher fees than

the other directors in recognition of their more onerous roles.

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the fees payable to

the directors to £250,000 per annum in aggregate. In the year

under review directors’ fees were paid at the following annual

rates: the Chairman £45,000; the Chairman of the Audit

Committee £26,000; Mr McGrath, who has the additional role

of monitoring the Group’s marketing activities on behalf of the

Board £26,000; the other directors £23,000. The policy is to

review these rates from time to time, although such review will

not necessarily result in any change to the rates.

Since the year-end the Board has agreed, on the recommendation

of the Remuneration Committee, that the fees payable to the non-

executive directors will remain unchanged for the coming year. 

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the

Company in respect of all the directors.

Executive director

Mr J Horsburgh is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the

sole executive director of the Company. 

The Company’s policy on the remuneration of the CEO is to pay a

basic salary appropriate to the position, together with bonus

arrangements that link his remuneration to the performance achieved

in the different aspects of his role. The CEO’s service agreement

dated 16 January 2004, as revised by a side letter dated 3 June

2005, provides for a salary of £215,000 per annum, pension

contributions equivalent to 10% of salary to a pension scheme of

his choosing (or payment in lieu thereof) and private health

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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insurance cover. Since the year end his salary has been increased

to £236,500 per annum, with effect from 1 January 2007. The

bonus arrangements provide, at the ultimate discretion of the

Company, a bonus of up to 50% of salary in respect of each

calendar year. Bonus payments will be made over two years,

subject normally to continued employment with the Company.

The performance over the year of the Company’s net asset value

per share relative to its benchmark determines 60% of his bonus

payments. Outperformance of the benchmark by 2% or more will

generate a bonus of the full 60%; no bonus is payable if

performance is in line with or below that of the benchmark;

relative performance of between nil and 2% will generate a pro

rata award. The benchmark is a composite of 50% the FTSE All-

Share Index and 50% the FTSE World (excluding the UK) Index,

both on a capital return basis. The remaining 40% is awarded, at

the Board’s discretion, on the basis of his overall performance as

CEO of the Company. The appointment may be terminated by

either party subject to not less than twelve months’ written

notice. The CEO is not entitled to fees for his service as a director.

He is entitled to take unpaid leave, subject to the approval of the

Chairman (and he did so in 2006).

Performance Graph

The Act requires the performance of the Company’s share price to

be compared to a single broad equity market index. The FTSE All-

Share Index is selected for the graph because it is the prime index

of the UK market, on which the Company’s shares are listed, and

forms one half of the Company’s benchmark. The FTSE World

(ex UK) Index is also shown because it forms the second half of

the Company’s benchmark. 

AUDITED INFORMATION

Amount of each Director’s emoluments

Non-executive directors

The fees payable in respect of each of the directors who served

during the year, and during 2005, were as follows:

2006 2005

£ £

H M Henderson 45,000 40,000

C G Clarke (i) 7,266 21,625

R W C Colvill 26,000 24,500

A W Jones 23,000 21,625

R H McGrath 26,000 21,625

C S McVeigh III (ii) 7,266 21,625

R A Bruce 23,000 21,625

J C Platt (iii) 15,333 1,197

A Watson (iv) 21,019 –

TOTAL 193,884 173,822

Notes:

(i) Mr Clarke retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

(ii) Mr McVeigh retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

(iii) Ms Platt was appointed a director on 13 December 2005 and resigned from the

Board with effect from 31 August 2006.

(iv) Mr Watson was appointed a director on 1 February 2006.

Executive director

The remuneration payable to the Chief Executive Officer in

respect of the year is as follows:

2006 2005

£ £

Basic salary 197,646 189,238

Paid in lieu of pension contributions 17,472 –

Performance related bonus 82,550 32,000

Pension contributions 1,667 20,000

Benefits in kind (health and life insurance) 5,033 1,969

TOTAL 304,368 243,207

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

7 March 2007

2002 2003 2004 2005 20062001

FTSE World (ex UK) Index, sterling adjusted, assuming the  
notional investment of £1,000 into the Index on 31 December  
2001 and the reinvestment of all income (excluding dealing 
expenses).

FTSE All-Share Index total return, assuming the notional
investment of £1,000 into the Index on 31 December 2001
and the reinvestment of all income (excluding dealing expenses).

Witan share price total return, assuming the investment of 
£1,000 on 31 December 2001 and the reinvestment of all 
dividends (excluding dealing expenses).

£1,600

£1,400

£1,200

£1,000

£800

Directors’ Remuneration Report
continued

17274_Text.qxd  9/3/07  11:01 pm  Page 26



27

Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose

how they have applied the principles and complied with the

provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance

(“the Code”).

Throughout the year under review the Code in force was the

Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the

Financial Reporting Council in July 2003. In addition, the AITC

Code of Corporate Governance, issued by the Association of

Investment Companies in July 2003, applies to the Company

(“the AITC Code”).

Application of the Principles of the Code

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate

governance and the Board attaches importance to the matters set

out in the Code and applies its principles. However, as an

investment trust company, many of the Company’s day to day

responsibilities are delegated to third parties and all but one of

the directors are non-executive.

The Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the Company.

Its role is to provide leadership within a framework of prudent and

effective controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed.

The Board sets the Company’s strategic aims (subject to the

Company’s memorandum and articles of association, and to such

approval of the shareholders in general meeting as may be required

from time to time) and ensures that the necessary resources are in

place to enable the Company’s objectives to be met.

The Board currently consists of nine directors, all of whom are

independent of the Company’s various investment managers.

With the sole exception of the Chief Executive Officer, the

directors are all non-executive. Their biographical details, set out

on page 2, demonstrate a breadth of investment, industrial,

commercial and professional experience with an international

perspective.

The Board meets at least ten times a year and deals with the most

important aspects of the Company’s affairs, including the setting

of parameters for and the monitoring of investment strategy, the

review of investment performance and the extent to which

borrowings may be used. The Chief Executive Officer is

responsible to the Board for the overall management of the

Company. His duties include leading on investment strategy and

asset allocation, on the selection and monitoring of the

investment managers and their terms of reference, on the use of

derivatives and for all other aspects of the Company’s affairs,

including shareholder relations, marketing, investment trust

industry matters, administration and the unquoted investments.

The Chief Executive Officer reports to each meeting of the Board.

His report includes confirmation from each of the investment

managers that they have carried out their duties in accordance

with the terms of their investment mandates and confirmation

that the Board’s investment limits and restrictions have been

adhered to, including those which govern the Company’s tax

status as an investment trust. The investment managers take

decisions as to the purchase and sale of individual investments

and are responsible for effecting those decisions on the best

available terms. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the

directors are provided, in a timely manner, with management,

regulatory and financial information that is clear, accurate and

relevant, whether from the Chief Executive Officer or otherwise.

Representatives of the investment managers attend Board

meetings on a regular basis, enabling the directors to monitor the

management of the Company’s assets, to seek clarification on

specific issues or to probe further on any points of concern.

Matters specifically reserved for decision by the full Board have

been defined and there is an agreed procedure for directors, in

the furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional

advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense. The directors

have access to the advice and services of the corporate company

secretary, through its appointed representative, who is responsible

to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed.

When a director is appointed he or she is offered a tailored

introductory programme. Directors are also provided, on a

regular basis, with key information on the Company’s policies,

regulatory and statutory requirements and internal controls.

Changes affecting directors’ responsibilities are advised to the

Board as they arise. Directors are encouraged to attend suitable

training courses on an ongoing basis at the Company’s expense.

Corporate Governance
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Directors are appointed for specified terms, subject to re-election

and to the provisions of the Companies Act. In accordance with

the Company’s articles of association, new directors stand for

election at the first annual general meeting following their

appointment. The Board has agreed that every director will stand

for re-election at intervals of not more than three years. The

Board’s report on the independence of the directors is set out on

pages 20 and 21.

The Board’s tenure and succession policy seeks to ensure that the

Board is well-balanced and refreshed regularly by the

appointment of new directors with the skills and experience

necessary, in particular, to replace those lost by directors’

retirements. Directors must be able to demonstrate their

commitment to the Company, including in terms of time. The

Board seeks to encompass relevant past and current experience

of various areas, the most important skill-sets being investment

management, finance, marketing, financial services, risk

management, custody and settlement, and investment banking.

The Board’s procedure in 2006 for evaluating the performance of

the Board, its Committees and the individual directors was by

means of individual meetings of the Chairman with each of the

directors. A meeting of the directors was then held, without the

Chairman present, to evaluate his performance. The evaluation

process is designed to show whether individual directors

continue to contribute effectively to the Board and to clarify the

strengths and weaknesses of the Board’s composition and

processes. The Chairman has taken the lead in acting on the

results of the evaluation process, mindful of the requirement to

refresh the composition of the Board from time to time without

reducing the stability, sense of purpose and effectiveness of the

Board that was highlighted by the evaluation process. 

The Chairman of the Company is an independent director. A

senior non-executive director has not been identified as the

Board considers that, by design, the directors have different

qualities and areas of expertise on which they may lead when

issues arise. In addition the Board has appointed separate

chairmen to lead its two permanent committees. Accordingly,

any concerns can be conveyed to the director most qualified to

address the subject.

Board Committees

The Board has established Audit and Remuneration Committees.

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for the duties

of the Board’s former Nominations Committee. The duties of the

former Management Engagement Committee are now the

responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer. The membership of

the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee is set

out on pages 2 and 21.

Audit Committee

The Committee comprises three non-executive directors

appointed by the Board; the Board also appoints the Chairman.

The Committee held four meetings during the year, at two of

which representatives of the auditors were present. Its

programme is to meet at least three times a year: in advance of

the publication of both the annual and the interim results and

on at least one other occasion with an agenda that is focused on

its broader responsibilities. 

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the directors in

applying financial reporting and internal control principles and to

maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors.

The Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the

Company’s financial statements, including consideration of the

Company’s accounting policies and significant reporting

judgements. It reviews the Company’s internal financial controls

and risk management systems. It reviews the scope and

effectiveness of the audit process and monitors the auditors’

independence and objectivity. It makes recommendations in

relation to the appointment of the external auditors, including

their remuneration and the provision by them of any non-audit

services. The Committee has established a procedure to ensure that

the engagement of the auditors to provide non-audit services

cannot exceed a specified proportion of the annual audit fees

without due consideration being given by the Committee to the

proposed appointment. The Committee also reviews major

contracts undertaken by the Company, the Board’s investment

restrictions and the values attributed to the unquoted investments.

It reviews the Company’s policy on matters of corporate social

responsibility and the exercise of voting rights. It ensures that the

Company maintains appropriate compliance with the
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requirements of regulators; and it reviews the reporting of

investment performance. 

Remuneration Committee

The Committee comprises three non-executive directors

appointed by the Board; the Board also appoints the Chairman.

The Committee held two meetings during the year. Its

programme is to meet at least once a year, in advance of the year

end, and on other occasions as necessary.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to determine and

review the Company’s remuneration policy, to establish the

incentive arrangements for and to evaluate the performance of

the Chief Executive Officer, to assess the effectiveness of the

Board and to consider the remuneration of the non-executive

directors. It is also responsible for reviewing the composition of

the Board and for proposing nominations for appointment to it.

Each director is invited to submit nominations and external

advisers may be used to identify or assess potential candidates.

The nominations list is considered by the Board as a whole,

although the Chairman would not expect to be involved in the

selection of his successor.

Two Board appointments were made early in 2007. The directors

reviewed the skills and experience required of potential new

directors. The Remuneration Committee, assisted by a specialist

firm of search consultants, Trust Associates Limited, prepared a

short list of candidates and made a recommendation to the

Board. The Board accepted the recommendations and its two

invitations to join the Board were both accepted.

Directors’ Remuneration

The directors’ remuneration is detailed in the Directors’

Remuneration Report on pages 25 and 26.

Relations with Shareholders

The Board seeks to develop an understanding of the views of the

major shareholders by receiving reports from the Chief Executive

Officer and from the Witan Marketing Director on meetings that

they have with shareholders, investors and analysts and from the

Company’s stockbrokers on contact it has with shareholders and

investors. The Chairman, and other members of the Board if

requested, expect to be available to talk to major shareholders.

The Board considers that the annual general meeting should

provide an effective forum for individual investors to

communicate with the directors. The annual general meeting is

chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Chairmen of the Audit

Committee and the Remuneration Committee also expect to be

present and able to answer questions from shareholders as

appropriate. Details of the proxy votes received in respect of each

resolution are made available to shareholders. The Chief Executive

Officer makes a presentation to the meeting. The Company has

adopted a nominee share code which is set out on page 56. 

Accountability and Audit

The directors’ statement of responsibilities in respect of the

accounts is set out on page 31. 

The report of the independent auditors is set out on page 32. 

The Board has delegated contractually to external agents,

including the six investment managers, the management of the

investment portfolio, global custody (which includes the

safeguarding of the assets), the investment administration,

management and financial accounting, company secretarial and

certain other administrative requirements and the registration

services. Each of these contracts was entered into after full and

proper consideration by the Board of the quality and cost of the

services offered, including the control systems in operation in so

far as they relate to the affairs of the Company. The Board

receives and considers regular reports from the investment

managers and ad hoc reports and information are supplied to

the Board from its other contractors as required. 

Internal Control

The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying,

evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the

Company. This process accords with the Turnbull guidance, is

subject to regular review by the Audit Committee and was fully

in place during the year under review and up to the date of this

annual report. The Board remains responsible for the Company’s

system of internal control and has conducted its annual review of

the effectiveness of the system, covering all the controls,

including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management systems. This review took into account points raised

during the year in the regular appraisal of specific areas of risk. 

17274_Text.qxd  9/3/07  11:01 pm  Page 29



30

However, such a system is designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risks of failure to achieve the Company’s business

objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year the Board undertook a full review of the

Company’s business risks and these are analysed and recorded in a

risk map. The Company receives each quarter from its main

contractors formal reports which detail the steps taken to monitor

the areas of risk and which report the details of any known

internal control failures. The Board receives each year from its UK

based investment managers and its investment administrator

reports on their internal controls, each of which includes a report

from the relevant company’s auditors on the control policies and

procedures in operation. Steps will continue to be taken to embed

the system of internal control and risk management into the

operations and culture of the Company and of its key suppliers.

During the year the Company’s subsidiary, Witan Investment

Services Limited, was authorised by the Financial Services

Authority to undertake the regulated activities necessary to

manage savings schemes for investors. The compliance structures

required for these activities, including a compliance manual and

a compliance monitoring programme, were duly put into place. 

The Company has a formal policy for staff to raise in confidence

any concerns about possible improprieties, whether in matters of

financial reporting or otherwise, for appropriate independent

investigation. Its staff comprises only five people (including the

Chief Executive Officer), who are well known to and have

frequent and informal contact with the members of the Board. 

The Company does not have an internal audit function. It

delegates to third parties the management of its investments and

most of its other operations and employs only a small staff. The

investment managers and certain other key contractors are subject

to external regulation and most have compliance and internal

audit functions of their own. The Company’s investments are held

on its behalf by a global custodian. A specialist firm of investment

accountants and administrators is responsible for investment

administration, for maintaining accounting records and for

preparing financial accounts, management accounts and other

management information. The investment performance of the

investment managers, both individually and collectively, is

measured for Witan by a company that is independent of all the

investment managers. The corporate company secretary is a

company with long experience in servicing investment trusts. The

appointment of these and other professional contractors provides

a clear separation of duties and a structure of internal controls

that is balanced and robust. The Board will continue to monitor

its system of internal control in order to provide assurance that it

operates as intended and the directors will review at least annually

whether a function equivalent to an internal audit is needed.

Going Concern

The assets of the Company consist mainly of securities that are

readily realisable and, accordingly, the Company has adequate

financial resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. Therefore, the directors believe that it is

appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the accounts.

Exercise of Voting Powers

The Board has approved a corporate governance voting policy with

all of its investment managers which, in the view of the Board,

balances current best practice with the underlying investment

management philosophies of the investment managers.

Statement of Compliance

The directors consider that the Company has complied during

the year ended 31 December 2006 with all the relevant

provisions set out in the Code, with the exceptions that (a) the

Board has not appointed a senior independent director (Code

Provision A.3.3) and (b) one member of the Audit Committee,

Mr Clarke who retired on 24 April 2006, was not an independent

director (Code Provision C.3.1) The directors consider that the

Company has complied throughout the year ended 31 December

2006 with the AITC Code.

Corporate Governance
continued
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report

and the financial statements. The directors are required to

prepare financial statements for the Group in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and have also

elected to prepare financial statements for the Company in

accordance with IFRS. Company law requires the directors to

prepare such financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the

Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial

statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s

financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This

requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions,

other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions

and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and

expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards

Board’s ‘Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of

Financial Statements’. In virtually all circumstances, a fair

presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable

International Financial Reporting Standards. Directors are also

required to:

■ properly select and apply accounting policies;

■ present information, including accounting policies, in a

manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and

understandable information; and

■ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the

specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to

understand the impact of particular transactions, other

events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and

financial performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company, for safeguarding the assets,

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of

fraud and other irregularities and for the preparation of a

directors’ report and directors’ remuneration report which

comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity

of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom

governing the preparation and dissemination of financial

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Note to those who access this document by electronic means

The annual report for the year ended 31 December 2006 has been approved by the Board of Witan Investment Trust plc and

circulated to the Company’s shareholders in hard copy format. It is also made available in electronic format for the convenience of

readers. However, the Board cannot accept responsibility for guaranteeing the integrity of the document in electronic format.

Printed copies are available from the Company’s Registered Office in London.

Readers should note that legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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We have audited the group and parent company financial
statements (the “financial statements”) of Witan Investment
Trust plc for the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated and
individual company balance sheets, the consolidated and
individual company cash flow statements, the consolidated and
individual company statements of changes in shareholders’
equity and the related notes 1 to 23. These financial statements
have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is to be audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you
whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’
Report is consistent with the financial statements. The
information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific
information presented in the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We
are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information, as described in the Contents

section, contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it
is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of
the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2006 and of
its profit for the year then ended; 

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2006;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as
regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
7 March 2007

Note to those who access this document by electronic means
An audit does not provide assurance on the maintenance and integrity of the
website, including controls used to achieve this, and in particular on whether any
changes may have occurred to the financial statements since first published. These
matters are the responsibility of the directors but no control procedures can provide
absolute assurance in this area.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial information differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Witan Investment Trust plc 
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Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006

Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

return return Total return return Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2 Investment income 32,483 – 32,483 33,463 – 33,463

3 Other income 7,276 – 7,276 5,579 – 5,579

10 Gains on investments held at fair value 
through profit or loss – 112,547 112,547 – 229,694 229,694

Total income 39,759 112,547 152,306 39,042 229,694 268,736

Expenses
4 Management fees (460) (2,044) (2,504) (531) (1,649) (2,180)

5 Other expenses (4,990) – (4,990) (4,208) – (4,208)

Profit before finance costs and taxation 34,309 110,503 144,812 34,303 228,045 262,348

6 Finance costs (2,632) (7,647) (10,279) (2,613) (7,644) (10,257)

Profit before taxation 31,677 102,856 134,533 31,690 220,401 252,091

7 Taxation (4,112) 2,410 (1,702) (3,688) 1,920 (1,768)

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the parent company 27,565 105,266 132,831 28,002 222,321 250,323

9 Earnings per ordinary share 10.24p 39.13p 49.37p 8.96p 71.16p 80.12p

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS. The revenue return
and capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance published by the Association of Investment
Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

All income is attributable to the equity holders of Witan Investment Trust plc, the parent company. There are no minority interests.

The notes on pages 37 to 50 form part of these accounts.
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The notes on pages 37 to 50 form part of these accounts.

Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2006

Group
Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary Capital Other
share Share redemption capital Retained

capital premium reserve reserves earnings Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,310 42,544 1,384,917

Profit for the year – – – 105,266 27,565 132,831

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) (24,235)

15, 16 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (8,554) – 8,554 (144,979) – (144,979)

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,597 45,874 1,348,534

Company
Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary Capital Other
share Share redemption capital Retained

capital premium reserve reserves earnings Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,228 42,626 1,384,917

Profit for the year – – – 105,202 27,629 132,831

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) (24,235)

15, 16 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (8,554) – 8,554 (144,979) – (144,979)

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,451 46,020 1,348,534

Group
Year ended 31 December 2005

Ordinary Capital Other
share Share redemption capital Retained

capital premium reserve reserves earnings Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2004 84,736 16,237 9,090 1,170,296 42,280 1,322,639

Profit for the year – – – 222,321 28,002 250,323

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (27,738) (27,738)

15 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (10,989) – 10,989 (160,307) – (160,307)

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,310 42,544 1,384,917

Company
Year ended 31 December 2005

Ordinary Capital Other
share Share redemption capital Retained

capital premium reserve reserves earnings Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2004 84,736 16,237 9,090 1,170,296 42,280 1,322,639

Profit for the year – – – 222,239 28,084 250,323

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (27,738) (27,738)

15 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (10,989) – 10,989 (160,307) – (160,307)

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,228 42,626 1,384,917
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Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2006

Group Company Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2006 2006 2005 2005
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non current assets 
10 Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 1,382,554 1,383,308 1,445,566 1,446,384

Current assets 
11 Other receivables 6,368 6,143 4,653 4,783

Cash and cash equivalents 114,610 113,934 86,319 85,302

120,978 120,077 90,972 90,085

Total assets 1,503,532 1,503,385 1,536,538 1,536,469

Current liabilities 
12 Other payables 8,170 8,023 4,873 4,804

Total assets less current liabilities 1,495,362 1,495,362 1,531,665 1,531,665

Non current liabilities
13 81/2 per cent. Debenture Stock 2016 45,779 45,779 45,779 45,779
13 6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025 98,494 98,494 98,414 98,414
13, 17 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 2,055 2,055 2,055 2,055
13, 17 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 500 500 500 500

146,828 146,828 146,748 146,748

Net assets 1,348,534 1,348,534 1,384,917 1,384,917

Equity attributable to equity holders
15 Ordinary share capital 65,193 65,193 73,747 73,747
16 Share premium 16,237 16,237 16,237 16,237
16 Capital redemption reserve 28,633 28,633 20,079 20,079
16 Other capital reserves 1,192,597 1,192,451 1,232,310 1,232,228
16 Retained earnings 45,874 46,020 42,544 42,626

Total equity 1,348,534 1,348,534 1,384,917 1,384,917

18 Net asset value per ordinary share 517.1p 517.1p 469.5p 469.5p

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 7 March 2007 and were signed on their behalf by

H M Henderson

J Horsburgh

The notes on pages 37 to 50 form part of these accounts.
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Group Company Group Company
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2006 2006 2005 2005

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 134,533 134,533 252,091 252,091
Interest paid 10,183 10,183 10,131 10,131
Gains on investments held at fair value through profit or loss (112,547) (112,483) (229,694) (229,612)

19 Net sales of investments held at fair value through profit or loss 175,508 175,508 173,175 173,175
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (106) 249 (480) (610)
Increase in other payables 245 167 142 73
Loss on debenture buy-back – – 51 51
Decrease in unrealised gain on derivatives – – 14 14
Cash inflow from futures contracts 1,316 1,316 1,315 1,315
Scrip dividends included in investment income (414) (414) (509) (509)

Net cash inflow from operating activities before interest 
and taxation 208,718 209,059 206,236 206,119
Interest paid (10,183) (10,183) (10,131) (10,131)
Amortisation of debt issue costs 80 80 79 79
Tax on overseas income (1,558) (1,558) (2,032) (2,032)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 197,057 197,398 194,152 194,035

Financial investment
22 Investment in subsidiary – – – (900)

Financing activities
8 Equity dividend paid (24,235) (24,235) (27,738) (27,738)

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (143,001) (143,001) (160,307) (160,307)
Repurchase of debt – – (221) (221)

Net cash outflow from financing (167,236) (167,236) (188,266) (188,266)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,821 30,162 5,886 4,869
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 86,319 85,302 79,568 79,568
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,530) (1,530) 865 865

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 114,610 113,934 86,319 85,302

Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2006

The notes on pages 37 to 50 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRS”). These comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”),

together with interpretations of the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee approved

by the International Accounting Standards Committee (“IASC”) that remain in effect, to the extent that they have been

adopted by the European Union. 

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the Group operates. 

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial

instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. Where presentational guidance set out in the

Statement of Recommended Practice (“the SORP”) for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment

Companies (“the AIC”) in January 2003 (revised in December 2005) is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the

directors have sought to prepare the financial statements on a basis compliant with the recommendations of the SORP.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the entity controlled by

the Company (its subsidiary) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power

to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intra-

group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(c) Presentation of Income Statement
In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company, and in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC,

supplementary information which analyses the Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been

presented alongside the Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a UK investment company under

section 266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend. Additionally, the

net revenue is the measure the directors believe appropriate in assessing the Group’s compliance with certain requirements

set out in section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

(d) Income
Dividends receivable on equity shares are recognised as revenue for the year on an ex-dividend basis. Where no ex-

dividend date is available, dividends receivable on or before the year end are treated as revenue for the year. Provision is

made for any dividends not expected to be received. The fixed returns on debt securities and non-equity shares are

recognised on a time apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective yield on the debt securities and shares. Interest

receivable from cash and short term deposits is accrued to the end of the period. Stock lending fees and underwriting

commission are recognised as earned. Where the Group has elected to receive its dividends in the form of additional shares

rather than cash, the amount of cash dividend foregone is recognised as income. Any excess in the value of shares received

over the amount of cash dividend foregone is recognised as a gain in the Income Statement.

(e) Expenses
All expenses and interest payable are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are presented as capital where a

connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. In this respect

the investment management fees and finance costs are allocated 25% to revenue and 75% to capital to reflect the Board’s

expectations of long term investment returns. Any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the

fact that, although they are calculated on a total return basis, they are expected to be attributable largely, if not wholly, to

capital performance.

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition or disposal of investments are expensed and included in the costs of

acquisition or deducted from the proceeds of sale as appropriate.

(f) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the

Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further

excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that

were applicable at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

(f) Taxation (continued)

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses presented

against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Income Statement is the “marginal basis”. Under this basis,

if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of the Income

Statement, then no tax relief is transferred to the capital return column.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is

accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against

which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as such under section 842 of

the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are not liable for taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is

realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(g) Investments held at fair value through profit or loss
When a purchase or sale is made under a contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the

relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date. 

All the Group’s investments are defined by IFRS as investments held at fair value through profit or loss.

All investments are designated upon initial recognition as held at fair value through profit or loss, and are measured at

subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which is either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the

exchange on which the investment is quoted. Investments in unit trusts or OEICs are valued at the closing price, the bid price or

the single price as appropriate, released by the relevant investment manager. Fair values for unquoted investments, or for

investments for which there is only an inactive market, are established by using various valuation techniques. These may include

recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted

cash flow analysis, option pricing models and reference to similar quoted companies. Where there is a valuation technique

commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable

estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, that technique is utilised. Where no reliable fair value can be estimated

for such instruments, they are carried at cost, subject to any provision for impairment. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(i) Dividends payable 
Interim dividends are recognised in the period in which they are paid. Final dividends are not recognised until approved

by the shareholders in general meeting.

(j) Non current liabilities
All debentures and secured bonds are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received, less

issue costs where applicable. After initial recognition, all interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured

at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The costs of

arranging any interest-bearing loans are capitalised and amortised over the life of the loan.

(k) Foreign currency translation 
Transactions involving foreign currencies are converted at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities that are fair valued and are denominated in foreign currencies are 

re-translated into sterling at the rate ruling on the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation 

are recognised in the Income Statement.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

(l) Accounting developments
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements a number of standards had been published by the IASB but were 

not yet effective. These include:

– IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosures; and

– IFRS 8, Operating Segments 

The directors anticipate that the adoption of IFRS7 and IFRS8 in future periods will have no material impact on the 

financial statements except for additional disclosures.

(m) Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices, foreign currency exchange 

rates and interest rates. Derivative transactions which the Company may enter into comprise forward exchange contracts

(the purpose of which is to manage currency risks arising from the Company’s investing activities), quoted options on 

shares held within the portfolio, or on indices appropriate to sections of the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide

protection against falls in the capital values of the holdings) and futures contracts on indices appropriate to sections of 

the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide protection against falls in the capital values of the holdings). The 

Company may also write options on shares represented in the portfolio where such options are priced attractively relative 

to the portfolio managers’ longer term expectations for the relevant share prices. The Group does not use derivative 

financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies as approved by the Board, which has set written

principles for the use of financial derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in

the Income Statement as they arise. If capital in nature, the associated change in value is presented as a capital item in 

the Income Statement.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2006 2005
2 Investment income £’000 £’000

Franked:

UK dividends from listed investments 17,853 19,149

Special dividends from listed investments 294 5

UK dividends from unquoted investments 267 340

18,414 19,494

Unfranked:

Overseas dividends from listed investments 13,463 13,376

Scrip dividends from listed investments 414 509

UK interest from unquoted investments – 1

Special dividends from listed investments 180 83

Overseas fixed interest and convertible bonds 12 –

14,069 13,969

Total investment income 32,483 33,463

Analysis of investment income by geographical segment: 

United Kingdom 18,452 19,495

North America 4,202 4,430

Continental Europe 6,233 4,968

Japan 1,458 1,564

Far East 1,845 2,607

South America 258 399

Other 35 –

Total investment income 32,483 33,463
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2006 2005
3 Other income £’000 £’000

Deposit interest 5,091 4,909

Stock lending income 1,319 426

Underwriting commission 28 49

Income from the subsidiary company’s third party business 803 195

Other income 35 –

7,276 5,579

At 31 December 2006 the total value of securities on loan by the Company for stock lending purposes was £99,200,000 

(2005: £69,270,000). The maximum aggregate value of securities on loan at any time during the year ended 31 December 

2006 was £269,786,000 (2005: £98,147,000). Collateral, revalued on a daily basis at a level equivalent to at least 105% of the 

market value of the securities lent, was provided against all loans. Collateral in respect of UK securities is usually in the form 

of Crest DBVs (Delivery by Values); the content of Crest DBVs is subject to a concentration limit of 10%.

4 Management fees Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fees 413 1,239 1,652 479 1,437 1,916

Performance fees – 593 593 – 35 35

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 47 212 259 52 177 229

460 2,044 2,504 531 1,649 2,180

A summary of the terms of the management agreements is given on pages 22 and 23 in the Directors’ Report.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2006 2005
5 Other expenses £’000 £’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 42 41
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services to the Group:

– the audit of the Company’s subsidiary pursuant to legislation 3 4
– other services pursuant to legislation 1 13
– other services relating to taxation 1 –
– other services 2 42

Directors’ fees (see the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 25 and 26) 194 174
Employers’ national insurance contributions on the directors’ fees 20 18
Employee costs:

Salaries and bonuses 600 381
Employers’ national insurance contributions 76 48
Pension contributions (or payments in lieu thereof) 42 34

Investment accounting fees 201 243
Advisory and consultancy fees 134 63
Expenses payable to the former management company* 76 266
Bank charges and overseas safe custody fees 391 381
Marketing expenses 1,325 1,563
Insurances 100 83
Occupancy costs 91 79
Printing 71 103
Migration of savings scheme 258 –
Savings scheme expenses 539 –
Third party marketing costs 101 19
Other expenses 389 357
Irrecoverable VAT 333 296

4,990† 4,208†

†The total includes £1,033,000 (2005: £279,000) in respect of the subsidiary company’s third party business (see note 3 above)
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5 Other expenses (continued)

*Expenses payable to the former management company, Henderson Global Investors Limited, were in respect of company secretarial

services, marketing services and, in respect of the prior year only, office accommodation and other administration services.

The average number of employees during the year was 5.0 (2005: 3.2).

6 Finance costs Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest payable on overdrafts 
repayable within one year 25 75 100 6 18 24

Interest payable on secured 
bonds and debenture stock
repayable in more than 5 years 2,524 7,572 10,096 2,524 7,575 10,099

Premium on repurchase 
of debenture stock – – – – 51 51

Preference share dividends 83 – 83 83 – 83

2,632 7,647 10,279 2,613 7,644 10,257

7 Taxation Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(a) Analysis of the charge for the year
UK corporation tax at 30%

(2005: 30%) 1,675 – 1,675 1,520 – 1,520
Double taxation relief (1,675) – (1,675) (1,520) – (1,520)

– – – – – – 
Prior year adjustment 6 – 6 – – –
Foreign tax suffered 2,088 – 2,088 2,059 – 2,059
Foreign tax recoverable (392) – (392) (291) – (291)
Tax relief to capital 2,410 (2,410) – 1,920 (1,920) –

Total current tax for the year
(see note 7(b)) 4,112 (2,410) 1,702 3,688 (1,920) 1,768

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is lower than that resulting from applying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for a

large company (30%). The difference is explained below.
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Profit before taxation 134,533 252,091

Corporation tax at 30% (2005: 30%) 40,360 75,627

Effects of:
Non-taxable UK dividends (5,524) (5,999)
Non-taxable stock dividends (50) –
Withholding tax written off 1,696 1,768
Double taxation relief (1,675) (1,520)
Non-taxable gains on investments held at fair value through profit or loss (33,764) (68,908)
Unused loan relationship deficits for the period 386 889
Premium on repurchase of debt – 15
Disallowed expenses 115 47
Adjustments for tax credits on overseas income – (26)
Income taxable in different periods 108 (175)
Preference dividends not deductible in determining taxable profit 25 25
Losses on subsidiary 19 25
Prior year adjustments 6 –

(38,658) (73,859)

Current tax charge for the year 1,702 1,768
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

7 Taxation (continued)

(c) Deferred tax
Due to the Company’s status as an investment trust, and the intention to continue meeting the conditions required to

obtain approval in the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided deferred tax on any capital gains and losses

arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments. 

No provision has been made for deferred tax on income outstanding at the end of the year as this will be covered by

unrelieved business charges and eligible unrelieved foreign tax (2005: £nil).

(d) Factors that may effect future tax charges
The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset of £11,614,000 (2005: £11,249,000) arising as a result of having

unrelieved loan relationship deficits and eligible unrelieved foreign tax. 

It is unlikely that the Company will obtain relief for these in the future so no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

8 Dividends
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31December 
2006 2005
£’000 £’000 

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 5.00p (2004: 4.90p) per ordinary share 14,050 16,123
First interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 3.90p (2005: 3.80p) per ordinary share 10,189 11,654
Write-back of unclaimed dividends relating to prior years (4) (39)

24,235 27,738

Proposed second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 5.30p 
(2005: 5.00p) per ordinary share 13,677 14,050

The final dividend accrued in respect of the year ended 31 December 2004 at 4.90p per share, amounted to £16,608,000. The

buy-backs of the Company’s shares, after 31 December 2004 but before the record date of the final dividend, resulted in a

write-back of dividends accrued in respect of the year but not in the event payable. The comparative figure of £16,123,000

for the dividends paid is net of this write-back. Due to the change in the treatment of dividends under IFRS, no dividend

was accrued at 31 December 2005.

The proposed second interim dividend has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Set out below is the total dividend to be paid in respect of the year. This is the basis on which 

the requirements of section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are considered. 

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31December 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000 

First interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 3.90p (2005: 3.80p) per ordinary share 10,189 11,654
Proposed second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 5.30p 

(2005: second interim dividend of 5.00p) per ordinary share 13,677 14,050

23,866 25,704
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9 Earnings per ordinary share
The earnings per ordinary share figure is based on the net profit for the year of £132,831,000 (year ended 31 December

2005: £250,323,000) and on 269,065,426 ordinary shares (year ended 31 December 2005: 312,435,597), being the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The earnings per ordinary share figure detailed above can be further analysed between revenue and capital, as below. The

Company has no securities in issue that could dilute the return per ordinary share. Therefore the basic and diluted earnings

per ordinary share are the same.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31December 

2006 2005
£’000 £’000 

Net revenue profit 27,565 28,002

Net capital profit 105,266 222,321

Net total profit 132,831 250,323

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 269,065,426 312,435,597

Pence Pence

Revenue earnings per ordinary share 10.24 8.96

Capital earnings per ordinary share 39.13 71.16

Total earnings per ordinary share 49.37 80.12

10 Investments held at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Analysis of investments held at fair value through profit or loss

Group Company Group Company
2006 2006 2005 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Listed in the United Kingdom 607,318 607,318 626,830 626,830

Listed abroad 733,749 733,749 807,775 807,775

Loan note at directors’ valuation 36,420 36,420 – –

Unquoted at directors’ valuation 5,067 5,067 10,961 10,961

Investment in subsidiary undertaking – 754 – 818

1,382,554 1,383,308 1,445,566 1,446,384

(ii) Group changes in investments held at fair value through profit or loss
Valuation Net Valuation Cost

31 December appreciation/ 31 December 31 December
2005 Purchases Sales (depreciation) 2006 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 637,791 257,104 335,749 89,659 648,805 471,342
North America 325,547 103,980 139,881 10,309 299,955 276,003
Continental Europe 233,145 107,266 143,965 24,195 220,641 183,819
Japan 142,301 29,651 44,142 (11,391) 116,419 110,807
Far East 85,343 36,722 36,991 (259) 84,815 74,225
South America 21,439 490 10,552 542 11,919 6,020

1,445,566 535,213 711,280 113,055 1,382,554 1,122,216

Included in the above figures are purchase costs of £1,695,000 (2005: £2,452,000) and sales costs of £836,000 (2005:

£2,447,000). These comprise mainly stamp duty and commission.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

10 Investments held at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

(iii) Gains on investments held at fair value though profit or loss
Year ended Year ended 

31 December 31December 
2006 2005
£’000 £’000 

Realised gains on sale of investments 158,050 104,500

Movement in unrealised appreciation (43,973) 124,329

Net movement on foreign exchange (1,530) 865

112,547 229,694

(iv) Substantial share interests
The Company has no interests of 3% or more of any class of capital in any investee companies. At 31 December 2005 there

was one such investment but it did not represent more than 1% of the Company’s investments and therefore is not

considered significant in the context of these accounts. 

Where the Company holds investments representing more than 20% of a class of equity share capital, they are not accounted

for as associated undertakings if, in the opinion of the directors, the Company does not exercise significant influence over the

financial or operating policies of the investee companies.

(v) Unquoted investments
The value of the unquoted investments as at 31 December 2006 was £41,487,000 (2005: £10,961,000) and the portfolio

comprised the following four holdings:

Valuation

£’000 Investments Investment type

36,420 UBS Loan Note see note 10 (vi) below

4,125 Cazenove Group Limited see note 10 (vii) below

600 Cazenove Capital Holdings Limited see note 10 (vii) below

342 Henderson Unquoted Growth Equities Fund investment fund

5,067

41,487

(vi) UBS Loan Note 
The capital value of this Loan Note rises and falls with the return on the Mellon Offshore Enhanced Currency Opportunity

Fund. It pays no income. The Loan Note matures on 31 December 2011 but can be redeemed on the last business day of each

calendar month prior to the maturity date. The Loan Note is valued monthly.

(vii) Cazenove 
Cazenove Group Limited (formerly Cazenove Group plc) (“Cazenove”) was established by the partners of Cazenove & Co. to

incorporate the business of that firm, to raise additional capital and to seek a stock market quotation in due course. It has since

combined its investment banking business with that of JP Morgan to form JP Morgan Cazenove. Its asset management business

has been transferred to a separate entity, Cazenove Capital Holdings Limited.
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Group Company Group Company
2006 2006 2005 2005

11 Other receivables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sales for future settlement 2,852 2,852 1,078 1,078

Unrealised gain on derivatives designated as held at

fair value through profit or loss – – 22 22

Taxation recoverable 378 378 521 521

Intercompany account – 139 – 239

Prepayments and accrued income 2,686 2,683 2,885 2,885

Other debtors 452 91 147 38

6,368 6,143 4,653 4,783

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and other receivables, which represent the Group’s maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets (but see also note 14 (i) on page 46).

The credit risk on derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings

assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Group Company Group Company
2006 2006 2005 2005

12 Other payables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Purchases for future settlement 2,161 2,161 1,359 1,359

Unrealised loss on derivatives designated as held at

fair value through profit or loss 272 272 – –

Preference dividends 38 38 38 38

Accruals 5,699 5,552 3,476 3,407

8,170 8,023 4,873 4,804

Group Company Group Company
2006 2006 2005 2005

13 Non current liabilities £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial instruments redeemable other than in instalments 

are as follows: 

81⁄2 per cent. Debenture Stock 2016 45,779 45,779 45,779 45,779

6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025 98,494 98,494 98,414 98,414

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of 

£1 (see note 17) 500 500 500 500

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares 

of £1 (see note 17) 2,055 2,055 2,055 2,055

146,828 146,828 146,748 146,748

On 15 December 2000 the Company issued £100,000,000 (nominal) 6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025, net of

discount and issue costs totalling approximately £2,000,000. The discount and the issue costs will be written back over the

life of the Secured Bonds. The nominal value of the Secured Bonds is redeemable on 15 December 2025.

The nominal value of the Debenture Stock is redeemable on 1 October 2016. During the year the Company made a market

purchase for cancellation of £nil (2005: £170,000) of the Debenture Stock at a premium to the nominal value.

The Debenture Stock and the Secured Bonds are secured by floating charges over all the undertaking and assets of the

Company. The security of the charges applies pari passu to both issues.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

14 Financial instruments
(i) Management of risk
The Group’s financial instruments comprise:

• equity shares, bonds, cash, index futures and other derivatives that are held in accordance with the Group’s investment

objective as set out on page 1;

• debenture stock, secured bonds, preference shares, term loans and bank overdrafts, the main purpose of which is to raise

finance for the Group’s operations; and

• cash and short-term debtors and creditors that arise directly from the Group’s operations.

Derivative transactions which the Group may enter into comprise forward exchange contracts (the purpose of which is to manage

currency risks arising from the Group’s investing activities), quoted options on shares held within the portfolio, or on indices

appropriate to sections of the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide protection against falls in the capital values of the

holdings) and futures contracts on indices appropriate to sections of the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide protection

against falls in capital values of the holdings). The Group may also write options on shares represented in the portfolio where such

options are priced attractively relative to the portfolio managers’ longer term expectations for the relevant share prices.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are due to fluctuations in market prices, foreign exchange

rates and interest rates. The Board regularly reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below. These policies have remained constant throughout the year under review.

Market price risk

Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about the future prices of financial instruments used in the Group’s operations. It

represents the potential loss the Group might suffer through holding market positions in the face of price movements and

movements in exchange rates. It is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the portfolio in order to

reduce the risk arising from factors specific to a particular country or sector. The allocation of assets to international markets and

stock selection are other factors which act to reduce market price risk. The portfolio managers actively monitor market prices

throughout the year and report to the Board, which meets regularly in order to consider investment strategy.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s total return and net assets can be significantly affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates because

a portion of the Group’s assets and revenue are denominated in currencies other than sterling. The international spread of

investments acts to reduce this risk. Borrowings in foreign currencies are limited to levels appropriate to the asset exposure to

those currencies. 

Since December 2006 the Company has held an investment in a managed currency fund (see note 10 (vi) on page 44).

Although this investment does not increase the overall exposure to foreign currencies, it may increase the Company’s

exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through its debenture stock, secured bonds, preference shares and term loans as well as

bank overdrafts and any retained revenues arising from operations. The Group borrows, in sterling or in foreign currencies,

at both fixed and floating rates of interest. The Board imposes borrowing limits to ensure that gearing levels are appropriate

to market conditions and reviews these limits on a regular basis.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s assets mainly comprise readily realisable securities which can be sold to meet commitments if necessary. The

maturity of the Group’s existing borrowings is set out in paragraph (iii) on page 47. Short term flexibility is achieved

through the use of loan and overdraft facilities.

Credit risk

The Group places funds with authorised deposit takers from time to time and is therefore potentially at risk from the failure of

any such institution. The Group expects to place any deposits on a short term basis only.

In December 2006 the Company invested in a loan note (see note 10 (vi) on page 44) and is therefore potentially at risk from

the failure of the issuer.

The Company lends securities from its portfolio, within limits set by the Board. It receives collateral of a value greater than

the value of the securities lent, usually, in respect of UK securities, in the form of Crest DBVs. This collateral is subject to

concentration limits, to a margin of a set percentage and to regular revaluation.
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14 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

The majority of the Group’s financial assets are equity shares and other investments which neither pay interest nor have a

stated maturity date.

Financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2006 was:

Group and Company Group and Company
2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005

Fixed rate Weighted Period for which Fixed rate Weighted Period for which
financial average interest rate financial average interest rate
liabilities interest rate is fixed liabilities interest rate is fixed

£’000 % years £’000 % years

Sterling – preference shares 2,555 3.3 – 2,555 3.3 –

Sterling – debenture stock 45,779 8.5 9.75 45,779 8.5 10.75

Sterling – secured bonds 98,494 6.228 18.96 98,414 6.228 19.96

146,828 146,748

(iii) Maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
All of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2006 (as discussed in (ii) above) mature in more than five years.

(iv) Currency exposure
A portion of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company is denominated in currencies other than sterling

with the effect that the net assets and total return can be significantly affected by currency movements.

Group and Company Group and Company
Overseas Net monetary Total currency Overseas Net monetary Total currency

Currency investments assets exposure investments assets exposure
2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

US dollar 293,840 8,626 302,446 329,930 7,715 337,645

Euro 181,893 2,773 184,666 176,407 1,821 178,228

Yen 116,420 1,069 117,489 142,301 2,946 145,247

Other non-sterling 143,238 2,530 145,768 158,928 1,492 160,420

Total 735,391 14,998 750,389 807,566 13,974 821,540

The table above excludes the investment in a managed currency fund (see note 10 (vi) on page 44).

(v) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
All of the financial assets of the Group are held at fair value.

Set out below is a comparison by category of the book values and fair values of the Company’s financial liabilities at 

31 December 2006:
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

2006 2006 2005 2005
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Preference shares 2,555 1,531 2,555 1,531

Debenture stock 45,779 57,227 45,779 59,780

Secured bonds 98,494 110,964 98,414 116,630

The fair values of the debenture stock, secured bonds and preference shares have been calculated by reference to prices

available from the markets on which the instruments are traded.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)

Group and Group and
Company Company

2006 2005
15 Called up share capital £’000 £’000

260,772,887 ordinary shares of 25p (2005: 294,988,151) 65,193 73,747

Allotted, called up and fully paid 65,193 73,747

129,007,113 unissued ordinary shares of 25p (2005: 94,791,849) 32,252 23,698

Authorised 97,445 97,445

During the year 34,215,264 ordinary shares were bought back for cancellation at a cost of £144,979,000 (2005: 43,956,634 

at a cost of £160,307,000).

16 Share premium and reserves 
Other Other

Capital capital capital 
redemption reserve reserve Retained

Share premium reserve – realised – unrealised earnings
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Group
At 1 January 2006 16,237 20,079 928,271 304,039 42,544

Net movement on listed securities – – 155,959 (44,962) –

Net movement on unquoted securities – – 2,091 989 –

Net movement on foreign exchange – – (1,530) – –

Expenses and interest payable charged to capital net of tax relief – – (7,281) – –

Buy-backs of ordinary shares – 8,554 (144,979) – –

Profit for the year – – – – 27,565

Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) 

At 31 December 2006 16,237 28,633 932,531 260,066 45,874

Company
At 1 January 2006 16,237 20,079 928,271 303,957 42,626

Net movement on listed securities – – 155,959 (44,962) –

Net movement on unquoted securities – – 2,091 925 –

Net movement on foreign exchange – – (1,530) – –

Expenses and interest payable charged to capital net of tax relief – – (7,281) – –

Buy-backs of ordinary shares – 8,554 (144,979) – –

Profit for the year – – – – 27,629

Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) 

At 31 December 2006 16,237 28,633 932,531 259,920 46,020

Company revenue account
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own income statement. The

amount of Company revenue before appropriations dealt with in the accounts of the Group is £27,629,000 (2005:

£28,084,000).

17 Preference shares
Included in non current liabilities is £2,555,000 in respect of issued preference shares as follows:

Group and Group and
Company Company

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 500 500

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 2,055 2,055

2,555 2,555
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17 Preference shares (continued)

The 3.4 per cent. and 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares constitute a single class and confer the right, in priority to

any other class of shares:

(i) to receive a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the respective rates (exclusive of tax credit thereon) of 3.4 per

cent. and 2.7 per cent. per annum, such dividend being payable half-yearly on 15 January and 15 July in each year, in

respect of the 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares, and on 1 February and 1 August in each year, in respect of the

2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares; and

(ii) to receive repayment of capital at par in a winding up of the Company (but do not confer any further right to

participate in profits or assets).

The preference shareholders are entitled to receive notices of general meetings of the Company but are not entitled to

attend or vote thereat (except on a resolution for the voluntary liquidation of the Company or for any alteration to the

objects of the Company as set out in its Memorandum of Association).

In the event of a poll at a general meeting of the Company, every member of the Company who is present in person or by

proxy and who is entitled to vote thereat, whether an ordinary shareholder or, in the circumstances outlined above, a

preference shareholder, has one vote for every £1 nominal value of shares registered in their name. Accordingly, on a poll

each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every four shares held.

18 Net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares of £1,348,534,000

(2005: £1,384,917,000) and on the 260,772,887 ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2006 (2005: 294,988,151).

The movements during the year of the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares were as follows:

£’000

Total net assets at 1 January 2006 1,384,917

Total profit for the year 132,831

Dividends appropriated in the year:

Ordinary shares (see note 8) (24,235)

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (144,979)

Net assets attributable to the ordinary shares at 31 December 2006 1,348,534

An alternative net asset value per ordinary share can be calculated by deducting from the total assets less current liabilities

of the Company the preference shares, the debenture stock and the secured bonds at their market (or fair) values rather

than at their par (or book) values. Details of the alternative values are set out in note 14 (v). The net asset value per

ordinary share at 31 December 2006 calculated on this basis was 508.4p (2005: 458.9p).

19 Note to the cashflow statement

Purchase and sales of investments are considered to be operating activities of the Company, given its purpose, rather than

investing activities. However, the cash flows associated with these activities are presented below.

Group and Group and
Company Company

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Proceeds on disposal of fair value through profit or loss investments 709,505 696,696

Purchases of fair value through profit or loss investments (533,997) (523,521)

175,508 173,175
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20 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2006 there were capital commitments in respect of securities not fully paid up of £nil (2005: £2,629,329) and

underwriting liabilities of £nil (2005: £nil). In November 2005 the Company took a five year lease on office premises at

14 Queen Anne’s Gate, London SW1 which expires in 2010. The Company has the right to terminate the lease after the first

three years of the lease.

21 Operating lease arrangements Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the year 58 10

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for the future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Within one year 58 58

In the second to fifth years inclusive 167 225

After five years – –

225 283

The operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office property.

The lease was negotiated for a term of five years and rentals are fixed for an average of five years.

22 Subsidiary undertaking
The Company has an investment in the issued ordinary share capital of its wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, Witan

Investment Services Limited, which was incorporated on 28 October 2004, is registered in England and Wales and operates in the

United Kingdom.

23 Segment Reporting 
Geographical segments 
Geographical segments are considered to be the primary reporting segment. An analysis of investment income by

geographical segment is set out in note 2 on page 39. Analyses of expenses by geographical segment and of profit by

geographical segment have not been given as it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way. An 

analysis of the investments by geographical segment is set out in note 10 on page 43. Analyses of the remaining assets 

and liabilities by geographical region have not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a

meaningful way or the results are not considered to be significant. 

Business segments 
Business segments are considered to be the secondary reporting segment. The Group has two business segments: (i) its

activity as an investment trust, which is the business of the parent company, Witan Investment Trust plc, and recorded 

in the accounts of that company; and (ii) the provision of executive and marketing management services and the

management of savings schemes, which is the business of the subsidiary company, Witan Investment Services Limited, 

and recorded in the accounts of that company.

Year ended 31 December 2006 Year ended 31 December 2005
Investment Management Investment Management

trust services trust services
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue from external customers 38,956 803 38,847 195

Carrying amount of assets 1,347,780 754 1,384,099 818

Cost of fixed assets – – – –

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)
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Explanation of Share Buy-Backs
The impact of the Company buying-in its own shares at a discount

Shareholders have in the past questioned the benefit of buying-

in shares for cancellation.

Below is a hypothetical example of how buying-in shares can

improve the share price of an investment trust. Typically, this

happens in two ways: first, the buy-back, because it takes place at

a discount, increases the NAV (net asset value) per share which,

all other things being equal, leads to a rise in the share price;

and, secondly, because a seller has been removed the discount

often narrows, again leading to a rise in the share price.

Take an investment trust (ABC) whose shares are priced at 320p

but which has a NAV per share of 400p. There are 100 shares in

the company.

NAV per share of ABC Investment Trust = 400p

Price per share of ABC Investment Trust = 320p

Discount of ABC Investment Trust = 20%

Value of ABC Investment Trust assets 100 x 400p = £400

Market value of ABC Investment Trust 100 x 320p = £320

If the company then buys back 15 shares at 320p the following

happens:

Value of buy-back 15 x 320p = £48

As these shares are cancelled the value of the Company’s total

assets falls.

Value of Assets £400 – £48 = £352

But there are now only 85 shares in issue so the NAV per

share is

£352 ÷ 85 = 414p, a rise of 14p (3.5%)

If the discount remains at 20% then the share price will rise to

80% x 414p = 331p, an increase of 11p (3.4%). In practice

because a large seller has been removed, the discount may well

fall. Therefore, the share price may rise even more, benefiting all

the remaining shareholders who will retain exactly the same

number of shares.

Historical Record
Net asset Market price Net revenue Earnings Dividends 
value per Share price per ordinary after per ordinary per ordinary
ordinary share discount share taxation share share

Year end in pence(b) %(b) in pence in £’000 in pence in pence

31 December 1996 314.5 15.3 266.5 26,764 7.11 6.65

31 December 1997 374.0 14.6 319.5 30,458 8.09 7.00

31 December 1998 423.9 13.4 367.0 30,317 8.06 7.40

31 December 1999 560.7 14.8 477.5 28,272 7.54 7.60

31 December 2000 521.5 8.3 478.0 32,541(c) 8.95(c) 7.75

31 December 2001 429.3 8.9 391.0 29,634 8.40 7.95

31 December 2002 307.6 15.0 261.5 31,445 8.92(d) 8.10

31 December 2003 358.2 15.4 303.0 31,362 8.98 8.30

31 December 2004 390.2(a) 15.0 331.5 29,330(a) 8.63(a) 8.60

31 December 2005 469.5(a) 11.8 414.0 28,002(a) 8.96(a) 8.80

31 December 2006 517.1 12.1 454.5 27,565 10.24 9.20

(a) The figure for 2005 has been calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the figure for 2004 has been restated in accordance with IFRS. The
figures for the earlier years have not been restated.

(b) The net asset value per ordinary share is calculated by deducting from the total assets less current liabilities of the Group the fixed borrowings at their par (not their market) values.
The share price discount shown reflects this calculation.

(c) With effect from 1 January 2001, 75% of finance costs and management fees have been charged to capital. The 2000 figures were restated to reflect this change of accounting
policy.

(d) With effect from 1 January 2002, tax relief has been allocated as described in note 1(f) on page 38.
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Marketing Review

Witan...

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. Oldie 02 07 C

wisdom

Making New Year resolutions is often a pointless exercise.
How much better to invest with a company that’s happy to see you gain a pound or two.

Please remember that past performance is not a guide to future performance. The value of your shares and the income from them can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by
Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. 
We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

James BuddenWitan’s marketing programme is a cumulative process designed to enhance the

worth of its shareholders’ investments. The activity stimulates and sustains

demand for Witan shares. This in turn provides a level of liquidity which boosts

the share price and allows shareholders to purchase and sell shares at a price

accurately reflecting the performance and rating of the Trust. The presence of

liquidity in Investment Trust shares is increasingly important in an environment

where demand can drop, discounts slip and price spreads widen.

However this worth tends to be difficult to quantify in pounds, shillings and

pence. It is often only reflected by comparing a trust’s rating against that of its

peers who do not promote themselves. Both may enjoy similar performance but

their discounts will be different with the marketed Trust sitting closer to par.

During 2006 Witan put into place a structure which will allow it to see the

benefits of its marketing programme in terms of profitability. This structure relates

to its provision of savings plans (PEPs, ISAs, Shareplan and Jump schemes) to the

retail investor. Witan’s subsidiary Witan Investment Services Limited became

authorised by the FSA in April 2006 to provide these plans to the public.

Consequently, investors who held Witan through Henderson Global Investors

plans were offered the opportunity to move their plans to Witan’s savings

platform, Witan Wealthbuilder, at no cost and under identical terms and

conditions. Upon the conclusion of this migration project Witan Investment

Services will be managing a significant savings business. In addition, each and

every plan marketed and sold to new investors will be profitable to Witan and its

shareholders. In the past this was not the case as the Trust subsidised investment

through savings plans when they were housed by Henderson Global Investors. It

is important to bear in mind that this turnaround has been achieved not by

charging investors more but by negotiating margins with suppliers. In the future

the profitability of the Witan Wealthbuilder platform will be a tangible measure

of Witan’s marketing success.

The promotion of Saving Schemes in order to stimulate demand for Witan

shares is one area of marketing activity. In addition, throughout 2006 Witan

looked to push its message of solid risk adjusted wealth creation ahead of global

stockmarkets to intermediaries and discretionary wealth managers. Here Witan’s

marketing communications sought to convince this audience of the ongoing

worth of its multi-manager investment approach and that its success as a

proposition should be measured by the sum of its parts rather than the

performance of its individual constituents. After all, it is total return that

matters to shareholders, private and professional.

2007

Witan’s marketing objectives continue to be to promote awareness of the Trust

and to stimulate demand for its shares. To this end, Witan employs a mix

of activity, including advertising, direct mail, public and investor relations,

e-commerce and sponsorship. This approach is tailored to three key target

markets, namely the private investor, the investment IFA and the discretionary

wealth manager. Witan’s strategy may be summarised as follows:

Advertising: Eliciting response across a range of marketing consumer finance

titles, national personal finance supplements and trade publications.

Direct Mail: Conversion of response into investment rather than speculative

mail shots. Communicating of product offers to investors.

Public and Investor Relations: Ongoing journalist contact programme and the

provision of Trust information across the shareholder base.

Which would you choose: a fund with outstanding managers but high charges, or
one with mediocre managers and low charges? If your answer is “neither,” you’re
the kind of uncompromising person who might make an excellent Witan investor.

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com
Please quote reference Money Ob 10 06 PI when calling.

Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to
improve customer service.

Witan

wisdom

good

James Russell Lowell

Please don’t glaze over at the mention of Total Expense Ratios 
(TERs for short). They’re the standard measure of the total charges
taken out of your investment by a fund’s managers. Very, very
few funds have lower TERs than Witan. So we put more of your
money to work for you.

But do you pay a price when it comes to the quality of the
managers? Not a bit of it. Unlike other large, international
investment funds which depend on a single manager, since
2003 Witan has offered the expertise of a hand-picked array of
top managers from leading firms in Europe, North America and
Asia Pacific.

The results? Just look at the table – and, in particular, at the
strength of Witan’s recovery since the great crash of 2000-2002.

However, please remember that past performance is not a guide
to future performance. The value of an investment and the
income from it can fall as well as rise as a result of the currency
and market fluctuations and you may not get back the amount
originally invested. 

So don’t compromise your investment portfolio, call us for your Witan
Share Plan pack or get in touch with your financial adviser today.

umbrella,

“Compromise
makes a

but a poor roof.”

Q2 2001 Q2 2002 Q2 2003 Q2 2004 Q2 2005
- Q2 2002 - Q2 2003 - Q2 2004 - Q2 2005 - Q2 2006

-24.73% -1.99% +3.92% +35.15% +11.54%

Source: Datastream to 31.07.2006. Figure shown is the share price total return.
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E-Commerce: Product distribution and information made

available on www.witan.com and www.jumpsavings.com

Sponsorship: Building brand awareness for Witan and Jump.

Witan is principal sponsor of Chemmy Alcott (Britain’s number

one female skier), in addition to enjoying sponsorship

arrangements with British Eventing Young Rider team, the RHS

and Tommy’s the Baby Charity.

During 2007, the Board will use key performance indicators to

measure the success of Witan’s marketing strategy. Whilst the

application of the marketing mix will be creative and innovative,

emphasis will be placed on ensuring cost effective responses

across all activities. The marketing budget is fixed annually and

expenditure is kept under close review. It is anticipated that the

budget for 2007 will show a modest increase on that of 2006.

How to Invest

There are a variety of ways to invest in Witan Investment Trust

plc. Naturally Witan’s shares can be traded through any UK

stockbroker. However, Witan is also available for investment

through the Witan Wealthbuilder savings platform managed by

Witan Investment Services. Witan Wealthbuilder offers a variety

of different savings wrappers which carry the benefits of income

reinvestment, regular saving and tax efficient investment. These

saving schemes may be purchased online, by telephone or

through the post. Online dealing is fixed at £15 per trade while

telephone and postal business is charged at 1% per deal (subject

to a minimum of £1.25). 

■ The Share Plan is a straightforward savings scheme with

minimum lump sum investment from £500 and or regular

saving from £50 per month or quarter. 

■ The ISA enables investors to save tax efficiently up to a limit

of £7,000 per annum. Minimum lump sum investment is

£2,000 with regular savings from £50 per month.

■ The Transfer PEP allows investors to transfer all or any

number of their existing PEP holdings to Witan

Wealthbuilder. The investments retain their tax free status

during and after transfer.

■ Jump, The Savings Plan For Children buys shares in Witan

Investment Trust plc. Jump gives parents, grandparents and

other adults the chance to save effectively for children over

the long-term. Minimum lump-sum investment is set at

£100 and regular contributions can be made from as little as

£25 a month or quarter. Please visit www.jumpsavings.com

for more information and application forms.

Further information on all products is available by calling 0800

082 8180 or online via www.witan.com. If you would prefer to

write to request further information the address is:

Witan Wealthbuilder

PO Box 4605, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6QY

Investors are reminded that the value of investments and the

income from them may go down as well as up and investors may

not get back the amount originally invested. Tax benefits may

change if the law changes and their value will depend upon

individual circumstances.

Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services. Witan

Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA)

is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to

provide investment products and services.

We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to

improve customer service.

Candida writes…

I didn’t ask to be named after

a fungal infection.

I didn’t ask to be born blonde.

I didn’t ask to be born at all.

I didn’t ask to be dragged

to France every summer.

I didn’t ask for Dad to show

up at every swimming gala.

And I definitely didn’t ask

him to start some savings fund

so I could go to college.

Boy is he asking for it.

Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by
the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

Impossible to do anything right for your children? Not quite. A Jump savings fund could go
some way to smoothing relations. If only to finance their escape from the family nest. 
A monthly saving can build up over the years to an impressive lump sum. So call us for an
information pack, or visit our website. And try bribing your way to some gratitude. Please
remember, past performance is not a guide to future performance, and the value of your shares
and the income from it can rise and fall, so you may not get back the full amount you invested.

The savings fund for children 
0800 082 81 80  www.jumpsavings.com

BB Money 12 06 J

last year – figures that compare more than favourably against 

the FTSE All-World Index.

We also have a TER (Total Expense Ratio) of just 0.47%**. Which

means the total amount we deduct from the fund each year 

in charges and expenses compares more than favourably with 

a total TER of 1.63% for the average OEIC within the IMA Global

Growth sector. And, contrary to popular opinion, not only do 

we offer commission to IFAs, we also let you choose the

remuneration option which best suits your business model.

All in all, we hope you’ll agree that our multi-manager strategy

delivers both for intermediaries, and their clients. The net result

being that everybody’s happy. To find out more about us, and the

hand-picked team of specialists that make up our multi-manager

team, visit www.witan.com or call 0800 082 81 80.

It certainly sounds like it. (In fact, it sounds like we’re throwing

cod, haddock and halibut overboard, let alone measly sardines.)

But, the truth is, everything is completely above board.  

As the performance figures here show, we have delivered on 

our promise, and achieved a Total Return of 52.36% since we

went multi-manager in September 2004, and 12.12% over the

Steady long-term performance. Low charges. And a choice
of remuneration for IFAs. Is there a catch?

0800 011 2015 www.witan.com
Please quote reference New Model 19 02 07 IF when calling.

Please remember, past performance is not a guide to future performance, and the value of shares and the income from them can rise and fall, so investors may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved
by Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to provide investment products and services.
We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service.

Witan

wisdom

“When the seagulls follow the
trawler, it’s because they think

will be thrown into the sea”

sardines
Eric Cantona.

Source: Datastream. Figures shown are share price total return. *Period from Witan becoming multi-managed. **As at 31.12.05

Witan Investment Trust 52.36%

01.10.04 – 31.12.06* 01.01.06 – 31.12.06

38.74%

12.12%

7.18%FTSE All-World Index

Available through:

Witan Wealthbuilder
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

(c) the maximum price which may be paid for an Ordinary

Share is an amount equal to 105% of the average middle

market quotations for an Ordinary Share taken from the

London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business

days immediately preceding the day on which the Ordinary

Share is purchased, or such other amount as may be specified

by the UK Listing Authority from time to time;

(d) the authority hereby conferred will expire at the conclusion

of the Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2008 or, if

earlier, on the expiry of 18 months from the passing of this

resolution, unless such authority is renewed prior to such time;

and

(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary

Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry

of such authority which will or may be executed wholly or

partly after the expiration of such authority and may make a

purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract.

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

7 March 2007

Registered Office

4 Broadgate

London EC2M 2DA

Telephone: 020 7638 5757

Registered as an investment company in England and Wales

No. 101625

Notice is hereby given that the ninety-ninth Annual General

Meeting of Witan Investment Trust plc will be held at Merchant

Taylors’ Hall, 30 Threadneedle Street, London EC2R 8JB on

Monday 30 April 2007 at 2.30 pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business 

1 To receive the directors’ report and the audited accounts for

the year ended 31 December 2006.

2 To approve the directors’ remuneration report for the year

ended 31 December 2006.

3 To re-elect Mr H M Henderson as a director of the Company.

4 To re-elect Mr A W Jones as a director of the Company.

5 To re-elect Mr R H McGrath as a director of the Company.

6 To elect Mr J Bevan as a director of the Company.

7 To elect Mr R W Boyle as a director of the Company.

8 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors to the

Company.

9 To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of

the auditors.

Special Business 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as

a special resolution:

10 THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 166

of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) to make market

purchases (within the meaning of section 163 of the Act) of

ordinary shares of 25p each in the capital of the Company

(“Ordinary Shares”), provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby

authorised to be purchased shall be 38,624,195

(representing approximately 14.99% of the Ordinary Shares

in issue at 7 March 2007, the date of this Notice of Annual

General Meeting);

(b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may

be paid for an Ordinary Share is 25p;
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The Annual General Meeting will be held on Monday 30 April 2007 at 2.30 pm.

Notes

1 Only those ordinary shareholders registered in the register of members of the Company at close of business on 28 April

2007 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (“the meeting”) in respect of the number of shares

registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant register of securities after close of business on

28 April 2007 will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

2 An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a

poll, to vote on his or her behalf. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Every ordinary shareholder who is present in person at a general meeting of the Company, and every person (not being

himself or herself a member entitled to vote) who is present as proxy for a member entitled to vote, shall have one vote on

a show of hands. On a poll, every ordinary shareholder who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every

£1 nominal value of shares held by him or her. Accordingly, on a poll each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every

four shares held.

3 A form of proxy is enclosed. To be valid the form of proxy must be completed and deposited at the office of the Company’s

Registrar not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. The return of the form of proxy duly

completed will not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting.

To appoint one or more proxies or to give an instruction to a proxy (whether previously appointed or otherwise) via the

CREST system, CREST messages must be received by the Company’s agent (ID number 3RA50) not later than 48 hours

before the time appointed for holding the meeting (i.e. by 2.30 pm on Saturday 28 April 2007). For this purpose, the time

of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp generated by the CREST system) from which the

Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message. For further information on CREST procedures, limitations and system

timings please refer to the CREST Manual. The Company may treat as invalid a proxy appointment sent by CREST in the

circumstances set out in Regulation 35 (5) (a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

4 This notice is sent for information only to holders of the preference shares and the debenture stock who are not entitled to

attend or vote at the meeting.

5 The register of directors’ interests, kept by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985,

and the Chief Executive Officer’s service agreement will be available for inspection at the meeting.

6 By attending the meeting, members and their proxies and representatives are understood by the Company to have

confirmed their agreement to receive any communications (including communications relating to the Company’s securities)

made at the meeting.
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Location of Merchant Taylors’ Hall

Merchant Taylors’ Hall is located at 30 Threadneedle Street in the City of

London. It is a few minutes’ walk from Liverpool Street Station and from

Bank Underground Station.

Annual General Meeting Venue
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Shareholder Information

Points of Contact

If you have any questions or need more information

concerning Witan, you may contact us in the following ways:

Freephone: Website:

0800 082 8180 www.witan.com

Post:

For Witan Wealthbuilder queries:

Witan Wealthbuilder

PO Box 4605

Worthing

West Sussex BN99 6QY

Points of Reference

You can follow the progress of your savings through the

newspapers. Witan’s share price appears daily in the national

press stock exchange listings under ‘Investment Trusts’ or

‘Investment Companies’.

The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List (SEDOL) code is

0974406.

Dividend

A second interim dividend of 5.3p per share has been declared,

payable on 3 April 2007. The record date for the dividend was

2 March 2007 and the ex-dividend date for the dividend was 

28 February 2007 (see pages 5 and 20).

Nominee Share Code

Where notification has been received in advance, Witan 

will provide the operators of nominee accounts with copies of

shareholder communications for distribution to their

customers. Nominee investors may attend general meetings

and speak at them when invited to do so by the Chairman.

Capital Gains Tax

The calculation of the tax on chargeable gains will depend on

your personal circumstances. If you are in any doubt about

your personal tax position, you are recommended to contact

your professional adviser.

Disability Act

Copies of this annual report and other documents issued by Witan

Investment Trust plc are available from the Company Secretary. If

needed, copies can be made available in a variety of formats,

including Braille, audio tape or larger type as appropriate.

You can contact our Registrar, Computershare Investor 

Services PLC, which has installed textphones to allow speech

and hearing impaired people who have their own telephone to

contact them directly, without the need for an intermediate

operator, by dialling 0870 702 0005. Specially trained operators

are available during normal business hours to answer queries

via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator

(provided by The Royal National Institute for Deaf People), you

should dial 18001 followed by the number you wish to dial.

Shareholder Analysis

2006 2005

% %

Private individuals 67 74

Insurance companies 19 16

Pension funds 6 5

Collective investment funds 4 3

Other 4 2

TOTAL 100 100

Source: RDIR (2005: Cazenove)

Registrar

Computershare Investor 

Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

Telephone: 0870 702 0010

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Stonecutter Court

1 Stonecutter Street

London EC4A 4TR

Solicitors

Herbert Smith LLP

Exchange House

Primrose Street

London EC2A 2HS

Stockbroker

JPMorgan Cazenove Limited

20 Moorgate

London EC2R 6DA

New Zealand Registrar

Computershare Investor Services Limited

PO Box 92119

Auckland 1020

New Zealand

Telephone (New Zealand) (64) 09 488 8777

New Zealand Stockbrokers

Rose Capital Management Limited

PO Box 1630

Queenstown 9197

New Zealand
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Inside back cover Chemmy Alcott

Witanwisdom

“Worldly wisdom
teaches us that it is
better for reputation to
fail conventionally than
to succeed
unconventionally.”
John Maynard Keynes

Investment trusts are public limited companies, quoted on the London Stock Exchange, which provide shareholders with a professionally managed
portfolio of investments. Investment trusts are exempt from tax on the capital gains arising on their investments. Income, net of expenses and tax,
is distributed substantially to shareholders. Shareholders elect the directors.

Witan renewed its sponsorship of Chemmy Alcott at 31 December 2006. The arrangement names Witan as principal sponsor of

Britain’s number one female skier until 2010 and the Olympics in Canada. This season Miss Alcott has competed successfully at the

highest level with top ten performances in World Cup races through the winter.
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